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Relevant and reliable financial information
INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS is a necessity for viable capital markets.
Unfortunately, companies outside the
United States often prepare financial state-
ments using standards different from U.S. GAAP (or simply GAAP). As a result, interna-
tional companies, such as Coca-Cola, Microsoft, and IBM, have to develop financial
information in different ways. Beyond the additional costs these companies incur, users
of the financial statements often must understand at least two sets of accounting
standards (understanding one set is hard enough!). It is not surprising, therefore, that
there is a growing demand for one set of high-quality international standards.

Presently, there are two sets of rules accepted for international use—GAAP and the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the London-based
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). U.S. companies that list overseas
are still permitted to use GAAP, and foreign companies listed on U.S. exchanges
are permitted to use IFRS. As you will learn, there are many similarities between GAAP
and IFRS.

Already, over 115 countries have adopted IFRS, plus the European Union now
requires all listed companies in Europe (over 7,000 companies) to use it. The SEC laid
out a roadmap, shown below, by which all U.S. companies might be required to use

IFRS by 2015.
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Most parties recognize that global markets will best be
CONVERGENCE OF GAAP AND IFRS served if only one set of accounting standards is used.
For example, the FASB and the IASB formalized their
commitment to the convergence of GAAP and IFRS by
issuing a memorandum of understanding (often referred to as the Norwalk agreement).
The two boards agreed to use their best efforts to:

* Make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as
practicable, and

e Coordinate their future work programs to ensure that once achieved, compatibility
is maintained.

As a result of this agreement, the two Boards identified a number of short-term and
long-term projects that would lead to convergence.
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Because convergence is such an important issue, we provide a discussion of inter-
national accounting standards at the end of each chapter called IFRS Insights. This
feature will help you understand the changes that are taking place in the financial
reporting area as we move to one set of international standards. Each IFRS Insights, as

shown here, consists of four sections.

An introduction typically lists the
international accounting pronouncements
related to the chapter topic.

The basic accounting and reporting issues related to recognition and measurement of
receivables, such as the use of allowance accounts, how to record discounts, use of the
allowance method to account for bad debts, and factoring, are similar for both IFRS and
GAAP. IAS 1 (“Presentation of Financial Statements”) is the only standard that dis-
cusses issues specifically related to cash. IFRS 7 (“Financial Instruments: Disclosure”)

Relevant Facts explain similarities and differences
of GAAP and IFRS.

RELEVANT FACTS

® The accounting and reporting related to cash is essentially the same under both IFRS
and GAAP. In addition, the definition used for cash equivalents is the same. One dif-
ference is that, in general, IFRS classifies bank overdrafts as cash.

About the Numbers generally discusses
and provides examples of IFRS applications
(in many cases, using real international
companies).

ABOUT THE NUMBERS

Impairment Evaluation Process

TFRS provides detailed guidelines to assess whether receivables should be consid-
ered uncollectible (often referred to as impaired). GAAP does not identify a specific
approach. Under IFRS, companies assess their receivables for impairment each report-

ing period and start the impairment assessment by considering whether objective

On the Horizon discusses convergence progress and plans
related to the accounting topics presented in the chapter.

ON THE HORIZON

The question of recording fair values for financial instruments will continue to be an
important issue to resolve as the Boards work toward convergence. Both the IASB and
the FASB have indicated that they believe that financial statements would be more
transparent and understandable if companies recorded and reported all financial
instruments at fair value. That said, in IFRS 9, which was issued in 2009, the IASB

IFRS Insights also includes IFRS Self-Test Questions, as well as IFRS Concepts and
Application, so students can test their understanding of the material. An International
Financial Reporting Problem, based on Marks and Spencer plc, offers students an
opportunity to analyze IFRS-based financial statements.

Having a basic understanding of international
accounting is becoming ever more important as the pro-
fession moves toward convergence of GAAP and inter-
national standards. Thus, in addition to the IFRS Insights
pages discussed above, we continue to include marginal International
Perspectives, marked with the icon shown here, which we updated throughout
to reflect changes in international accounting. These notes describe or compare
IFRS as well as accounting practices in other countries with GAAP. This feature helps
you to understand that other countries sometimes use different recognition and
measurement principles to report financial information.

OTHER INTERNATIONAL COVERAGE

INTERNATIONAL
PERSPECTIVE
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The Wiley Accounting Team for Success is ready when you
are to help prepare you and your students for the integration of IFRS into your courses.

No matter where you are in this transition, Wiley Accounting is here to provide the tools you
need to fully incorporate IFRS into your accounting courses. We offer the most extensive
Products, Content, Services, Support, and Training available today—leading the way

to prepare you and your students for success!

TIrnnovalive Produc?s: New IFRS Editions of Kieso, Intermediate Accounting
and Weygandt, Financial Accounting are the most current and only textbooks available based
fully on International Financial Reporting Standards. Wiley Accounting also offers numerous IFRS
resources that can serve to supplement your course.

Exclusive Content: our accounting publications feature more quality and
current coverage of IFRS topics than any other textbook available today! The Wiley Accounting
Team for Success authors integrate IFRS content within each chapter through features like

A Look at IFRS, which demonstrates how international standards apply to each

U.S. GAAP topic, as well as provides an opportunity for practical application. International
Insights also provide an international perspective of the accounting topic discussed in the text.

Sappo)‘f & Services: Wiley Accounting features a dedicated IFRS website
(at www.wileyifrs.com) and an Accounting Weekly Updates website (at www.
wileyaccountingupdates.com) to make sure you have the most current resources available.

77/)7:2/}/ 77‘62/‘/7/‘/7 - Wiley Accounting and the Wiley Faculty Network provides free
IFRS virtual training workshops, IFRS Guest Lectures, and IFRS “Boot Camps” featuring authors
Paul Kimmel and Terry Warfield. You can also earn CPE credit for attending these sessions.

To learn more about how the Wiley Accounting Team for Success can help your students succeed,
visit www.wileyteamforsuccess.com or contact your Wiley sales representative today.


www.wileyifrs.com
www.wileyteamforsuccess.com
www.wileyaccountingupdates.com
www.wileyaccountingupdates.com
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www.wileyplus.com

w® omr . S ey What do INSTRUCTORS receive with WileyPLUS?
e Support and Insight into Student Progress

WileyPLUS provides reliable, customizable resources that reinforce
course goals inside and outside of the classroom, as well as visibility
into individual student progress. Pre-created materials and activities
help instructors optimize their time.

For class preparation and classroom use:
e Lecture Notes
e PowerPoint Slides
e Tutorials

For assignments and testing:
e Gradable Reading Assignment Questions
(embedded with online text)
e Question Assignments: all end-of-chapter problems
coded algorithmically with hints, links to text

For course planning: WileyPLUS comes with a pre-created
Course Plan designed by a subject matter expert uniquely for
this course. Simple drag-and-drop tools make it easy to assign
the course plan as-is or modify it to reflect your course syllabus.

For progress monitoring: WileyPLUS provides instant access
to reports on trends in class performance, student use of course
materials, and progress toward learning objectives, helping
inform decisions and drive classroom discussions.

Experience WileyPLUS for effective teaching and learning
at www.wileyplus.com.

Powered by proven technology and built on a foundation
of cognitive research, WileyPLUS has enriched the education
of millions of students, in numerous countries around the world.
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The Place Where
Faculty Connect ...

The Wiley Faculty Network is a global community
of faculty connected by a passion for teaching
and a drive to learn and share. Connect with

the Wiley Faculty Network to collaborate with
your colleagues, find a mentor, attend virtual

and live events, and view a wealth of resources
all designed to help you grow as an educator.
Embrace the art of teaching—great things
happen where faculty connect!

(4
Attend 2

Discover innovative ideas and
gain knowledge you can use.

e Training
e Virtual Guest Lectures
e Live Events

e @

Explore your resources and
development opportunities.

e Teaching Resources

e Archived Guest Lectures

e Recorded Presentations

e Professional Development Modules

Collabp%te

Connect with colleagues—
your greatest resource.

e Find a Mentor
e |nterest Groups
* Blog

Find out more at

www.WHEREFACULTYCONNECT.com

The Wiley Faculty
Network

Y
-~

- FACULTY
NETWORK

“Virtual Guest Lectures

Connect with recognized leaders-acrossdisciplines
and collaborate with your peers on timely topics
and discipline specific issues, many of which offer
CPE credit.

Live and Virtual Events

These invitation-only, discipline-specific events are
organized through a close partnership between the
WEN, Wiley, and the academic community near the
event location.

Technology Training

Discover a wealth of topic- and technology-specific
training presented by subject matter experts,
authors, and faculty where and when you need it.

Teaching Resources

Propel your teaching and student learning to the
next level with quality peer-reviewed case studies,
testimonials, classroom tools, and checklists.

Connect with Colleagues

Achieve goals and tackle challenges more easily by
enlisting the help of your peers. Connecting with
colleagues through the WFN can help you improve
your teaching experience.


www.WHEREFACULTYCONNECT.com

From the
Authors

Accounting is the most employable, sought-after major for 2012, according to entry-level job site CollegeGrad.com. One reason for
this interest is found in the statement by former Secretary of the Treasury and Economic Advisor to the President, Lawrence
Summers. He noted that the single-most important innovation shaping our capital markets was the idea of generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). We agree with Mr. Summers. Relevant and reliable financial information is a necessity for viable
capital markets. Without it, our markets would be chaotic, and our standard of living would decrease.

This textbook is the market leader in providing the tools needed to understand what GAAP is and how it is applied in practice.
Mastery of this material will be invaluable to you in whatever field you select.

Through many editions, this textbook has continued to reflect the constant changes taking place in the GAAP environment.
This edition continues this tradition, which has become even more significant as the financial reporting environment is exploding
with major change. Here are three areas of major importance that are now incorporated extensively into this edition of the text.

Convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS

As mentioned above, the most important innovation shaping our capital markets was the idea
of U.S. GAAP. It might be said that it would be even better if we had one common set of “If this book helps teachers
accounting rules for the whole world, which will make it easier for international investors to instill in their students an

. . . . ) : : . appreciation for the challenges,
compare the financial results of companies from different countries. That is happening quickly Vfoﬁth and limitations of fingan—

as U.S. GAAP and international accounting standards are quickly converging toward cial reporting, if it encourages
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), to be used by all companies. And students to evaluate critically
you have the chance to be on the ground floor as we develop for you the similarities and and understand financial

accounting concepts and practice,
and if it prepares students for
advanced study, professional
examinations, and the successful

differences in the two systems that ultimately will be one.

A Fair Value Movement

The FASB believes that fair value information is more relevant to users than historical cost. As a and ethical pursuit of their careers
result, there is more information that is being reported on this basis, and even more will occur in in accounting or business in a
the future. The financial press is full of articles discussing how financial institutions must fair global economy, then we will

have attained our objectives.”

value their assets, which has led to massive losses during the recent credit crisis. In addition,
additional insight into the reliability related to fair values is being addressed and disclosed to
help investors make important capital allocation decisions. As a result, we devote a considerable
amount of material that discusses and illustrates fair value concepts in this edition.

A New Way of Looking at Generally Accepted Principles (GAAP)

Learning GAAP used to be a daunting task, as it is comprised of many standards that vary in form, completeness, and structure.
Fortunately, the profession has recently developed the Financial Accounting Standards Board Codification (often referred to as the
Codification). This Codification provides in one place all the GAAP related to a given topic. This textbook is the first to incorporate
this Codification—it will make learning GAAP easier and more interesting!

Intermediate Accounting Works
Intermediate Accounting is the market-leading textbook in providing the tools needed to understand what GAAP is and how it is
applied in practice. With this Fourteenth Edition, we strive to continue to provide the material needed to understand this subject area.
The book is comprehensive and up-to-date, and provides the instructor with flexibility in the topics to cover. We also include proven
pedagogical tools, designed to help students learn more effectively and to answer the changing needs of this course. Page xiv
describes all of the learning tools of the textbook in detail.

We are excited about Intermediate Accounting, Fourteenth Edition. We believe it meets an important objective of providing
useful information to educators and students interested in learning about both GAAP and IFRS. Suggestions and comments from
users of this book will be appreciated. Please feel free to e-mail any one of us at AccountingAuthors@yahoo.com.

Donald E. Kieso Jerry J. Weygandt Terry D. Warfield
DeKalb, lllinois Madison, Wisconsin Madlison, Wisconsin



WHAT’S NEW?

The Fourteenth Edition expands our emphasis on student learning and improves upon
a teaching and learning package that instructors and students have rated the highest in
customer satisfaction. Based on extensive reviews, focus groups, and interactions with
other intermediate accounting instructors and students, we have developed a number
of new pedagogical features and content changes, designed both to help students learn
more effectively and to answer the changing needs of the course.

Major Content Revisions

In response to the changing environment, we have significantly revised several chapters.

Chapter 2 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

e Chapter rewritten to reflect latest IASB/FASB work: reliability replaced with faithful
representation, fundamental qualities differ, and secondary qualities are now
enhancing qualities (and now contain some of the previous primary qualities);
the framework now just includes the cost constraint (previously cost-benefit and
materiality, materiality now a company-specific aspect of relevance).

e Constraints rewritten per above and prudence/conservatism is discussed as in
conflict with the quality of neutrality; as a result, text discussion eliminated, but
added a footnote explaining this position.

e Updated discussion of fair value, in light of recent FASB developments. Updated
fair value discussions, including discussion of the fair value option, in Chapters 7,
14, and 17.

Chapter 3 The Accounting Information System
e Reduced the number of account titles throughout chapter for simplification.
e Completely new approach to illustrating transaction analysis; each illustration
includes Basic Analysis, Equation Analysis, Debit-Credit Analysis, Journal Entry,
and Posting sections.

Chapter 5 Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows
o Moved Statement of Cash Flows material before Additional Information section,
for improved discussion flow.

Chapter 7 Cash and Receivables
e Reconfigured chapter headings, so chapter now broken into four major sections
(cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, and special issues) instead of just
two, for improved readability.
e Rewrote sections on direct write-off and allowance methods, for more current
discussion of this material.



Chapter 18 Revenue Recognition

e Updated Current Environment section, with more recent developments in FASB
revenue recognition guidelines.

® Revised and updated Revenue Recognition at Point of Sale (e.g., buyback,
returns, and bill and hold) section to include new illustrations that demonstrate
revenue recognition problems and solutions, as well as discussion on principal-
agent relationships and multiple-deliverable arrangements (including an expanded
discussion on consignments).

Chapter 23  Statement of Cash Flows
e Revised and updated Section 2: Special Problems in Statement Presentation, to
discuss adjustments to net income (depreciation and amortization, losses and
gains, stock options, postretirement benefit cost, extraordinary items).

Updated International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Content

As we continue to strive to reflect the constant changes in the accounting environment,
we have added new material on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
A new end-of-chapter section, IFRS Insights, includes an overview section (Relevant
Facts), differences between GAAP and IFRS (About the Numbers), IFRS/GAAP conver-
gence efforts (On the Horizon), and IFRS Self-Test Questions and IFRS Concepts and
Application. An international financial reporting problem is also included, based on
Marks and Spencer plc (a leading U.K. department store) financial statements, as well
as a research case addressing the IFRS literature for each chapter.

Enhanced Homework Material

In each chapter, we have updated Questions, Brief Exercises, Problems, and Concepts
for Analysis. In addition, in the Using Your Judgment section, we now offer a new review
exercise in each chapter, entitled Accounting, Analysis, and Principles, to help students
evaluate and analyze information from the chapter. Students review the accounting
introduced in the chapter (“Accounting”), consider how the information provided by
the accounting is useful to investors and creditors (“Analysis”), and reflect on how the
accounting is related to accounting principles and concepts (“Principles”). Such exer-
cises, reinforced with end-of-chapter homework activities, give students the practice
they will need to build decision-making skills using the accounting concepts and pro-
cedures they are learning. Finally, we have updated the Professional Simulation and
included it in the textbook.

Chart of Accounts

It is important to always try to eliminate unnecessary barriers to student understanding.
Sometimes, the accounting course can seem unnecessarily complicated to students
because so many account titles are used. In order to reduce possible confusion, and to
keep students focused on those concepts that really matter, in this edition of the text-
book we undertook to reduce the number of account titles used. In some chapters, we
were able to cut the number of accounts used by more than half.
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ENHANCED FEATURES OF THE 14TH EDITION

This edition was also subject to an overall, comprehensive revision to ensure that it is
technically accurate, relevant, and up-to-date. We have continued and enhanced many
of the features of the 13th Edition of Intermediate Accounting, including the following.

Codification

The Codification was introduced in the 13th Edition—the first textbook to do so. The
genesis for the Codification is explained in Chapter 1, with all previous references to the
FASB literature with references to the Codification throughout the textbook. The com-
plete citations and correspondence to prior FASB literature are presented in the FASB
Codification section at the end of the chapter. Each chapter has Codification exercises
and a research case (similar to the FARS Cases in the pre-codification editions of
Intermediate Accounting).

Underlying Concepts

These marginal notes relate topics covered within each chapter back to the con-
ceptual principles introduced in the beginning of the textbook. This continual
reinforcement of the essential concepts and principles illustrates how the con-
cepts are applied in practice and helps students understand the why, as well as
the how.

Updated Supplements

All supplements are updated, including newly designed PowerPoint presentations with
more review questions, and over 500 new Test bank questions.

Real-World Emphasis

One of the goals of the intermediate accounting course is to orient students to the
application of accounting principles and techniques in practice. Accordingly, we have
continued our practice of using numerous examples from real companies throughout
the textbook. The names of these real companies are highlighted in red. lllustrations
and exhibits marked by the icon shown here in the margin are excerpts from actual
financial statements of real firms.

At the start of each chapter, we have updated and introduced new chapter-opening
vignettes to provide an even better real-world context that helps motivate student inter-
est in the chapter topic. Also, throughout the chapters, the "What Do the Numbers
Mean?" boxed inserts also provide real-world extensions of the material presented in
the textbook. In addition, Appendix 5B contains the 2009 annual report of The Procter
& Gamble Company (P&G). The book’s companion website contains the 2009 annual
reports of The Coca-Cola Company and of PepsiCo, Inc. Problems in the Using Your
Judgment section involve study of the P&G annual report or comparison of the annual
reports of The Coca-Cola Company and PepsiCo. Also, links to many real-company
financial reports appear in the company database at the Gateway to the Profession.

Currency and Accuracy

Accounting continually changes as its environment changes; an up-to-date book is
therefore a necessity. As in past editions, we have strived to make this edition the most



up-to-date and accurate textbook available. For the 14th Edition, we added an additional
round of accuracy checking.

International Coverage

As discussed above, having a basic understanding of international accounting is
becoming ever more important as the profession moves toward convergence of GAAP 'P”ELES';"E‘?II'\C/’;‘AL @
and international standards. Thus, in addition to the IFRS Insights discussed earlier, we

continue to include marginal International Perspectives, marked with the icon shown

here, which we updated throughout to reflect changes in international accounting. These

notes describe or compare IFRS and international accounting practices with GAAP. This

feature helps students understand that other countries sometimes use different recogni-

tion and measurement principles to report financial information.

Streamlined Presentation

We also have continued our efforts to keep the topic coverage of Intermediate
Accounting in line with the way instructors are currently teaching the course.
Accordingly, we have moved some optional topics into chapter-end appendices, and
we have omitted altogether some topics that formerly were covered in appendices.
Details are listed in the specific content changes on pages xii—xiii. We have continued
efforts to maintain the readability of the textbook, following the thorough editorial
review of the 13th Edition.

Additional Exercises

Our study of the intermediate accounting course indicates the importance of the end-
of-chapter Exercises for teaching and practicing important accounting concepts. In the
14th Edition, therefore, we have prepared an additional set of exercises, available at
the book’s companion website. (Solutions are available at the instructor’s portion of the
website.) Also, in the 14th Edition, a new Review and Analysis exercise at the book’s com-
panion website gives an additional opportunity for students to review the accounting
techniques and analysis behind each chapter topic.

Using Your Judgment Section

We have revised and updated the Using Your Judgment section at the end of each
chapter. Elements included in this section include the following.

e A Financial Reporting Problem, featuring The Procter & Gamble Company.

* A Comparative Analysis Case, featuring The Coca-Cola Company and PepsiCo,
Inc., that asks students to compare and contrast the financial reporting for these
two companies.

e A Financial Statement Analysis Case that asks students to use the information in
published accounting reports to conduct financial analysis.

e A review exercise in each chapter entitled Accounting, Analysis, and Principles.
As discussed above, this integrated exercise helps students evaluate and analyze
information from the chapter.

e A Professional Research: FASB Codlfication case that gives students practice con-
ducting authoritative research using the FASB Codification research system.

e A full presentation of Professional Simulations, newly revised for this edition, that
model the new computerized CPA exam.

The Using Your Judgment assignments are designed to help develop students’ critical
thinking, analytical, and research skills.



Content Changes by Chapter

Chapter 1 Financial Accounting and Accounting
Standards
e Moved “The Challenges Facing Financial Accounting”
to later in the chapter, for improved discussion.
e Rewrote “Objective of Financial Reporting” per new
conceptual framework guidelines.
e New WDNM box on fair value accounting.

Chapter 2 Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

e “Conceptual Framework” rewritten to reflect latest
IASB/FASB work: the framework now just includes the
cost constraint (previously cost-benefit and materiality,
materiality now a company-specific aspect of relevance),
reliability replaced with faithful representation,
fundamental qualities differ, and secondary qualities
are now enhancing qualities (and now contain some
of the previous primary qualities).

e Constraints rewritten per above—also, prudence/
conservatism now considered to conflict with quality
of neutrality, so text discussion eliminated, but added
a footnote explaining this position.

Chapter 3 The Accounting Information System

e Reduced the number of account titles throughout
chapter, for simplification.

e Completely new approach to illustrating transaction
analysis; each illustration includes Basic Analysis,
Equation Analysis, Debit-Credit Analysis, Journal Entry,
and Posting sections.

Chapter 4 Income Statement and Related Information
¢ New opening story, “Watch Out for Pro Forma,” about
the use of pro forma reporting practices and effects
and the SEC's response (issuing Regulation G).

* New WDNM boxes: “Four: The Loneliest Number,”
about managing earnings and the quadrophobia
effect, and “Different Income Concepts,” about the
performance metrics analysts use/create from a
company'’s income statement.

Chapter 5 Balance Sheet and Statement of Cash Flows

e New opening story, “Hey, It Doesn’t Balance,” about
FASB/IASB discussion paper on possible new format
of balance sheet (statement of financial position).

e Moved Statement of Cash Flows material before
Additional Information section, for improved discussion
flow.

e Appendix 5B updated for 2009 P&G annual report
information.

Chapter 7 Cash and Receivables
e Completely rewritten opening story on Nortel.
¢ Reconfigured chapter headings, so chapter now broken
into 4 major sections (cash, accounts receivable, notes
receivable, and special issues) instead of just 2, for
improved readability.

e New WDNM box, “Deep Pockets,” about cash hoarding.

¢ Rewrote sections on direct write-off and allowance
methods, for more current discussion of this material.

e New section on Fair Value Option under Special Issues.

e New detailed footnote on FASB new rules on when a
transfer of receivables is recorded as a sale.

e Completed revised WDNM box, “Return to Lender,”
about debt securities.

¢ Updated discussion of presentation of receivables.

e Deleted WDNM box in Appendix 7A on consequences of
bouncing a check.

e Deleted Background section in Appendix 7B (Impairment
of Receivables), as dated.

Chapter 8 Valuation of Inventories: A Cost-Basis
Approach

e Rewrote much of the opening story, to incorporate
recent information about auto industry slowdown and
government bailouts.

e Updated WDNM box on Wal-Mart, to include recent
information about how it's cutting its supply chain cost.

e New International Perspective, to provide latest IFRS views
on inventory methods.

e New WDNM box, on possibility and economic
consequences of repealing LIFO as acceptable method
under GAAP.

Chapter 9 Inventories: Additional Valuation Issues
e Updated opening story, for most recent information
about retailers’ restocking process, its advantages, and
its potential pitfalls.
¢ In Lower-of-Cost-or-Market section, now use cost-of-goods-
sold and loss methods, instead of direct/indirect methods.
e Updated use of real company data throughout chapter.

Chapter 10 Acquisition and Disposition of Property,
Plant, and Equipment
e Updated Financial Statement Analysis Case for Johnson &
Johnson.
e New Professional Simulation exercise.

Chapter 11 Depreciation, Impairments, and Depletion
e New opening story, “Here Come the Write-Offs,” about
affects (impairment losses) of the 2008 credit crisis.
e New International Perspective on component depreciation
and depletion.

Chapter 12 Intangible Assets

e New opening story, “Are We There Yet?"” about gap
between government economic measures and those same
measures adjusted for intangible investments.

e New WDNM box, “Impairment Risk,” about how
goodwill impairments spiked in 2007 and 2008, coinciding
with stock market downturn.

e Revised chart on R&D expenditures, to include rationale
for specific accounting treatment.



Chapter 13 Current Liabilities and Contingencies

e Updated opening story, “Now You See It, Now You
Don't,” to provide more of an international perspective
of disclosure requirements of contingent liabilities.

e New International Perspectives on classification of
long-term debt, the IFRS use of the term provisions, and
how IFRS companies report noncurrent liabilities before
current liabilities.

Chapter 14 Long-Term Liabilities

e New opening story, “Bonds versus Notes,” about recent
trend of companies borrowing more from bond investors
than banks; previous opening story now a new \WDNM
box.

* New section, Fair Value Option, which discusses both
measurement and controversy.

e Updated WDNM boxes, “All About Bonds,” to replace
current discussion with one on 2 different companies,
Wal-Mart and Alcoa, and “How’'s My Rating?” to
incorporate more recent downward trend of S&P
ratings.

e New International Perspectives on IFRS required use of
effective-interest method, how bond issue costs must
reduce the carrying amount of the bond, and troubled-
debt restructurings.

Chapter 15 Stockholders’ Equity

¢ Updated Reacquisition of Shares section, to discuss
recent buyback developments/trend.

e New WDNM boxes, “Not So Good Anymore,” about
decreased share repurchase activity, and “Dividends Up,
Dividends Down,” about the recent sharp decrease in
companies paying dividends.

Chapter 16 Dilutive Securities and Earnings per Share
¢ Updated opening story, “Kicking the Habit,” about
recent trend of companies issuing restricted stock
versus stock options.
e New International Perspectives on IFRS share-based
compensation and employee stock-purchase plans.

Chapter 17 Investments

e New opening story, “What to Do?” about how recent
write-down of mortgage-backed securities has led
to discussion on how to value financial instruments
(e.g., amortized cost, fair value).

e New International Perspectives on IFRS classification of
debt investments, IFRS valuation of debt investments,
and valuation of equity method investments.

e Updated WDNM boxes, “What Is Fair Value?"” to
include current debate on use of mathematical models
as basis for valuations, and “Risky Business” to discuss
use of credit default swaps to facilitate sales of
mortgage-backed securities.

e New WDNM box, “Who's in Control Here?” about the
companies Molson Coors and Lenovo Group.

e New discussion on FASB/IASB proposal to simplify
comprehensive income reporting and the recent
amendment to variable-interest entities consolidation
rules.

Chapter 18 Revenue Recognition

e Updated Current Environment section, with more
recent developments in FASB/IASB revenue recognition
policies and guidelines.

e Revised and updated Revenue Recognition at Point of
Sale (e.g., buyback, returns, and bill and hold) section, to
include new illustrations that demonstrate revenue recog-
nition problems and solutions, as well as discussion on
principal-agent relationships and multiple-deliverable
arrangements (including an expanded discussion on
consignments).

Chapter 19 Accounting for Income Taxes
e New opening story, “How Much Is Enough?” about
Citigroup’s handling of its deferred tax assets.
e New WDNM box, “Global Tax Rates,” about how personal
and corporate tax rates vary among countries.

Chapter 20 Accounting for Pensions and Postretirement
Benefits
e Updated to reflect all recent data on pensions and
postretirement benefits.

Chapter 21 Accounting for Leases
e Updated WDNM box, “Are You Liable?” for international
impact on new lease-accounting rule.
e New discussion and illustration of expense front-loading
of operating leases if brought on-balance-sheet.

Chapter 22 Accounting Change and Error Analysis
e Updated opening story and charts about types and
numbers of recent accounting changes.
e New WDNM box, “Guard the Financial Statements!”
about how restatements sometimes occur because of
financial fraud.

Chapter 23 Statement of Cash Flows

e Updated opening story, “Show Me the Money!” to
discuss how investors analyze companies’ free cash
flow.

e Revised and updated Section 2: Special Problems in
Statement Presentation, to discuss adjustments to net
income (depreciation and amortization, losses and
gains, stock options, postretirement benefit cost,
extraordinary items).

Chapter 24 Full Disclosure in Financial Reporting

e New company note disclosures from more recent annual
reports, for example, Xerox, Johnson & Johnson,
Tootsie Roll Industries, Best Buy Co., PepsiCo, and
Home Depot.

e New discussion/illustrations in Fraudulent Financial
Reporting section.

e New WDNM box, “Disclosure Overload” about six
important areas still to be converged between GAAP
and IFRS.

e Deleted Appendix 24B, as international coverage now
discussed throughout textbook.



Teaching and Learning Supplementary Material

For Instructors

Active-Teaching Aids

In addition to the support instructors receive from WileyPLUS
and the Wiley Faculty Network, we offer the following useful
supplements.

Book’s Companion Website. On this website,
www.wiley.com/college/kieso, instructors will find electronic
versions of the Solutions Manual, Test Bank, Instructor’s
Manual, Computerized Test Bank, and other resources.

Instructor’s Resource CD. The Instructor’s Resource
CD (IRCD) contains an electronic version of all instructor
supplements. The IRCD gives instructors the flexibility to
access and prepare instructional materials based on their
individual needs.

Solutions Manual, Vols. 1 and 2.  The Solutions
Manual contains detailed solutions to all questions, brief
exercises, exercises, and problems in the textbook as well
as suggested answers to the questions and cases. The
estimated time to complete exercises, problems, and cases
is provided.

Solution Transparencies, Vols. 1 and 2. The
solution transparencies feature detailed solutions to brief
exercises, exercises, problems, and “Using Your Judgment”
activities. Transparencies can be easily ordered from the
book’s companion website.

Instructor’s Manual, Vols. 1 and 2. Included in
each chapter are lecture outlines with teaching tips, chapter
reviews, illustrations, and review quizzes.

Teaching Transparencies. The teaching transparencies
are 4-color acetate images of the illustrations found in the
Instructor's Manual. Transparencies can be easily ordered from
the book’s companion website.

Test Bank and Algorithmic Computerized Test
Bank. The test bank and algorithmic computerized test
bank allow instructors to tailor examinations according to study
objectives and learning outcomes, including AACSB, AICPA,
and IMA professional standards. Achievement tests, compre-
hensive examinations, and a final exam are included.

PowerPoint™. The new PowerPoint™ presentations
contain a combination of key concepts, images, and
problems from the textbook.

WebCT and Desire2Learn. WebCT or Desire2Learn
offer an integrated set of course management tools that
enable instructors to easily design, develop, and manage
Web-based and Web-enhanced courses.

Solutions to Rockford Practice Set and Excel
Workbook Templates. Available for download from
the book’s companion website.

Xiv

For Students

Active-Learning Aids

Book’s Companion Website. On this website,

students will find:

* A B Set of Additional Exercises
o Self-Study Tests and Additional Self-Tests

e A complete Glossary of all the key terms used in the
text

* A new Review and Analysis Exercise, with Solution

e Financial statements for The Procter & Gamble
Company, The Coca-Cola Company, PepsiCo, and
Marks and Spencer plc

Student Study Guide, Vols. 1 and 2. Each chapter
of the Study Guide contains a chapter review, chapter
outline, and a glossary of key terms. Demonstration prob-
lems, multiple-choice, true/false, matching, and other
exercises are included.

Problem-Solving Survival Guide, Vols. 1 and 2.
This study guide contains exercises and problems that help
students develop their intermediate accounting problem-
solving skills. Explanations assist in the approach, set-up,
and completion of accounting problems. Tips alert students
to common pitfalls and misconceptions.

Working Papers, Vols. 1 and 2. The working
papers are printed templates that can help students
correctly format their textbook accounting solutions.
Working paper templates are available for all end-
of-chapter brief exercises, exercises, problems, and
cases.

Excel Working Papers. The Excel Working Papers
are Excel templates that students can use to correctly
format their textbook accounting solutions.

Excel Primer: Using Excel in Accounting. The
online Excel primer and accompanying Excel templates
allow students to complete select end-of-chapter exercises
and problems identified by a spreadsheet icon in the
margin of the textbook.

Rockford Corporation: An Accounting Practice
Set. This practice set helps students review the
accounting cycle and the preparation of financial
statements.

Rockford Corporation: An Accounting Practice
Set (General Ledger Software Version). The
computerized Rockford practice set is a general ledger
software version of the printed practice set.


www.wiley.com/college/kieso

Gateway to the Profession

The Gateway to the Profession resources include the following content.

Professional Resources

Consistent with expanding beyond technical accounting knowledge, the Gateway to the
Profession materials emphasize certain skills necessary to become a successful accountant or
financial manager. The following materials will help students develop needed professional skills.

Financial Statement Analysis Primer. An online primer on financial statement
analysis is provided, along with related assignment material. This primer can also be used
in conjunction with the database of annual reports of real companies.

Database of Real Companies. Links to more than 20 annual reports of well-known
companies, including three international companies, are provided. Assignment material
provides some examples of different types of analysis that students can perform.

Writing Handbook. A handbook on professional communications gives students a
framework for writing professional materials. This handbook discusses issues such as the
top-10 writing problems, strategies for rewriting, how to do revisions, and tips on clarity.
This handbook has been class-tested and is effective in helping students enhance their
writing skills.

Working in Teams. Recent evaluations of accounting education have identified the
need to develop more skills in group problem solving. The Gateway to the Profession
materials include a second primer dealing with the role that work-groups play in organiza-
tions. Information is included on what makes a successful group, how you can participate
effectively in the group, and do’s and don'ts of group formation.

Ethics in Accounting. The Professional Toolkit contains expanded materials on the
role of ethics in the profession, including references to speeches and articles on ethics in
accounting, codes of ethics for major professional bodies, and examples and additional case
studies on ethics.

Chapter-Level Resources

Also included at the Gateway to the Profession are features that help students process and
understand the course materials. They are:

Interactive Tutorials. To help students better understand some of the more difficult
topics in intermediate accounting, we have developed a number of interactive tutorials
that provide expanded discussion and explanation in a visual and narrative context. Topics
addressed are the accounting cycle; inventory methods, including dollar-value LIFO;
depreciation and impairment of long-lived assets; and interest capitalization.

These tutorials are for the benefit of the student and should require no use of class time on
the part of instructors.

Expanded Discussions. The Expanded Discussion section provides additional topics

not covered in-depth in the textbook, thereby offering the flexibility to enrich or expand the
course.

Spreadsheet Tools. Present value templates are provided. These templates can be
used to solve time value of money problems.

Additional Internet Links. A number of useful links related to financial analysis are
provided to expand expertise in analyzing real-world reporting.
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Financial Accounting

1 and Accounting Standards

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

After studying this chapter, you should be able to:

Identify the major financial statements and [ Explain the meaning of generally accepted
other means of financial reporting. accounting principles (GAAP) and the role of

. . L - the Codification for GAAP.
Explain how accounting assists in the efficient
use of scarce resources. kD Describe the impact of user groups on the

rule-making process.

Identify the objective of financial reporting. B Describe some of the challenges facing

Explain the need for accounting standards. financial reporting.
Identify the major policy-setting bodies and E» Understand issues related to ethics and
their role in the standard-setting process. financial accounting.

Thinking Outside the Box

One might take pride in the fact that the U.S. system of financial reporting has long been the most
robust and transparent in the world. But most would also comment that we can do better, particularly
in light of the many accounting scandals that have occurred at companies like AlG, WorldCom, and
Lehman Brothers. So it is time for reevaluation—a time to step back and evaluate whether changes
are necessary in the U.S. financial reporting system. In doing so, perhaps it is time to “think outside the
box.” Here are some thoughts:

1. Today, equity securities are broadly held, with approximately half of American households investing
in stocks. This presents a challenge—investors have expressed concerns that one-size-fits-all
financial reports do not meet the needs of the spectrum of investors who rely on those reports.
Many individual investors are more interested in summarized, plain-English reports that are easily
understandable; they may not understand all of the underlying detail included in current financial
reports. On the other hand, market analysts and other investment professionals may desire informa-
tion at a far more detailed level than is currently provided. Technology certainly must play a role in
delivering the customized level of information that the different types of investors desire.

2. Aside from investors’ concerns, companies have expressed concerns with the complexity of our
current financial reporting system. Many companies assert that when preparing financial reports, it
is difficult to ensure compliance with the voluminous and complex requirements contained in
U.S. GAAP and SEC reporting rules. In fact, in a recent year almost 10 percent of U.S. public com-
panies restated prior financial reports. This alarmingly high number is a problem because it can be
difficult to distinguish between companies with serious underlying problems and those with uninten-
tional misapplications of complex accounting literature. Restatements are costly to companies and can
undermine the confidence of investors in the financial reporting system.

3. We also need to look beyond the accounting applied in the basic financial statements and
footnotes and consider the broader array of information that investors need to make informed
decisions. The U.S. capital markets can run fairly, orderly, and efficiently only through the steady
flow of comprehensive and meaningful information. As some have noted, the percentage of a
company’s market value that can be attributed to accounting book value has declined significantly
from the days of a bricks-and-mortar economy. Thus, we may want to consider a more
comprehensive business reporting model, including both financial and nonfinancial key
performance indicators.
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See the International

4. Finally, we must also consider how to deliver all of this information in a timelier manner. Perspectives on pages 8, 9,
In the 21st century, in a world where messages can be sent across the world in a 18, and 20.
blink of an eye, it is ironic that the analysis of financial information is still subject to Read the IFRS Insights on

many manual processes, resulting in delays, increased costs, and errors. . .
y P 9 y pages 32-40 for a discussion of:

Thus, thinking outside the box to improve financial reporting involves more than simply

trimming or reworking the existing accounting literature. In some cases, major change —International standard-setting
is already underway. For example: organizations
e The FASB and IASB are working on a convergence project, including a reconsid- —Hierarchy of IFRS

eration of the conceptual framework. It is hoped that this project will contribute to

—International accounting
less-complex, more-understandable standards.

) : ) ) convergence
e Standard-setters are exploring an enhanced business reporting framework, which

will result in expanded reporting of key performance indicators.

e The SEC now requires the delivery of financial reports using eXtensible Business Reporting
Language (XBRL). Reporting through XBRL allows timelier reporting via the Internet and allows
statement users to transform accounting reports to meet their specific needs.

Each of these projects supports “outside the box” thinking on how to improve the quality of financial
reporting. They will take the accounting profession beyond the complexity debate to encompass both
the usefulness of financial reporting and the most effective delivery of information to investors.

Source: Adapted from Conrad W. Hewitt, “Opening Remarks Before the Initial Meeting of the SEC Advisory
Committee on Improvements to Financial Reporting,” U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Washington,
D.C. (August 2, 2007).

As our opening story indicates, the U.S. system
PREVIEW OF CHAPTER 1 of financial reporting has long been the most
robust and transparent in the world. To ensure

that it continues to provide the most relevant and reliable financial information to users,
a number of financial reporting issues must be resolved. These issues include such mat-
ters as adopting global standards, increasing fair value reporting, using principles-based
versus rule-based standards, and meeting multiple user needs. This chapter explains the
environment of financial reporting and the many factors affecting it, as follows.

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

l l

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PARTIES INVOLVED GENERALLY ACCEPTED ISSUES IN FINANCIAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN STANDARD-SETTING ACGCOUNTING PRINCIPLES REPORTING
e Accounting and capital ¢ Securities and Exchange l_-_ FASB Codification e Political environment
allocation Commission o Expectations gap
o Objective o American Institute of CPAs « Financial reporting
e Need to develop standards ¢ Financial Accounting challenges
Standards Board o International accounting
e Changing role of the AICPA standards
e Ethics
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND FINANCIAL REPORTING

The essential characteristics of accounting are (1) the identification, measurement,
and communication of financial information about (2) economic entities to (3) inter-
ested parties. Financial accounting is the process that culminates in the prepara-
tion of financial reports on the enterprise for use by both internal and external

parties. Users of these financial reports include investors, creditors, managers, unions,
and government agencies. In contrast, managerial accounting is the process of identify-
ing, measuring, analyzing, and communicating financial information needed by man-
agement to plan, control, and evaluate a company’s operations.

Financial statements are the principal means through which a company communi-
cates its financial information to those outside it. These statements provide a company’s
history quantified in money terms. The financial statements most frequently provided
are (1) the balance sheet, (2) the income statement, (3) the statement of cash flows, and
(4) the statement of owners’ or stockholders’ equity. Note disclosures are an integral
part of each financial statement.

Some financial information is better provided, or can be provided only, by means of
financial reporting other than formal financial statements. Examples include the presi-
dent’s letter or supplementary schedules in the corporate annual report, prospectuses,
reports filed with government agencies, news releases, management’s forecasts, and
social or environmental impact statements. Companies may need to provide such infor-
mation because of authoritative pronouncement, regulatory rule, or custom. Or they
may supply it because management wishes to disclose it voluntarily.

In this textbook, we focus on the development of two types of financial information:
(1) the basic financial statements and (2) related disclosures.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE EBp

Identify the major financial statements
and other means of financial reporting.

Accounting and Capital Allocation

Resources are limited. As a result, people try to conserve them and ensure that they
are used effectively. Efficient use of resources often determines whether a business
thrives. This fact places a substantial burden on the accounting profession.

Accountants must measure performance accurately and fairly on a timely
basis, so that the right managers and companies are able to attract investment
capital. For example, relevant and reliable financial information allows investors and
creditors to compare the income and assets employed by such companies as IBM,
McDonald’s, Microsoft, and Ford. Because these users can assess the relative return and
risks associated with investment opportunities, they channel resources more effectively.
[lustration 1-1 shows how this process of capital allocation works.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE E»

Explain how accounting assists in the
efficient use of scarce resources.

ILLUSTRATION 1-1
Capital Allocation Financial Reporting Users Capital Allocation
Process (present and potential)
The financial information .| Investors and creditors .| The process of
a company provides to use financial reports to determining how and at
help users with capital make their capital what cost money is
allocation decisions about allocation decisions. allocated among
the company. competing interests.

An effective process of capital allocation is critical to a healthy economy. It promotes
productivity, encourages innovation, and provides an efficient and liquid market for
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buying and selling securities and obtaining and granting credit. Unreliable and irrele-

vant information leads to poor capital allocation, which adversely affects the securities
markets.

IT’S THE ACCOUNTING

“It’s the accounting.” That’s what many investors seem to be saying these days. Even the slightest

hint of any accounting irregularity at a company leads to a subsequent pounding of the company’s What do the
stock price. For example, the Wall Street Journal has run the following headlines related to accounting numbers
and its effects on the economy. mean?

e Stocks take a beating as accounting woes spread beyond Enron.
* Quarterly reports from IBM and Goldman Sachs sent stocks tumbling.
e Citi explains how it hid risk from the public.
* Bank of America admits hiding debt.
* Accounting woes at AIG take their toll on insurers’ shares.
It now has become clear that investors must trust the accounting numbers, or they will
abandon the market and put their resources elsewhere. With investor uncertainty, the cost of

capital increases for companies who need additional resources. In short, relevant and reliable
financial information is necessary for markets to be efficient.

Objective of Financial Reporting

What is the objective (or purpose) of financial reporting? The objective of general-
purpose financial reporting is to provide financial information about the report-
ing entity that is useful to present and potential equity investors, lenders, and
other creditors in decisions about providing resources to the entity. Those deci-

&) LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Identify the objective of financial
reporting.

sions involve buying, selling, or holding equity and debt instruments, and provid-

ing or settling loans and other forms of credit. Information that is decision-useful to
capital providers (investors) may also be helpful to other users of financial reporting who
are not investors. Let’s examine each of the elements of this objective.'

General-Purpose Financial Statements

General-purpose financial statements provide financial reporting information to a
wide variety of users. For example, when Hershey’s issues its financial statements, these
statements help shareholders, creditors, suppliers, employees, and regulators to better
understand its financial position and related performance. Hershey’s users need this
type of information to make effective decisions. To be cost-effective in providing this
information, general-purpose financial statements are most appropriate. In other words,
general-purpose financial statements provide at the least cost the most useful informa-
tion possible.

Equity Investors and Creditors

The objective of financial reporting identifies investors and creditors as the primary
users for general-purpose financial statements. [dentifying investors and creditors as the
primary users provides an important focus of general-purpose financial reporting.

!Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, Chapter 1, “The Objective of General Purpose
Financial Reporting,” and Chapter 3, “Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Informa-
tion” (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, September 2010), par. OB2.
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For example, when Hershey issues its financial statements, its primary focus is on inves-
tors and creditors because they have the most critical and immediate need for informa-
tion in financial reports. Investors and creditors need this financial information to assess
Hershey’s ability to generate net cash inflow and to understand management’s ability to
protect and enhance the assets of the company, which will be used to generate future net
cash inflows. As a result, the primary user groups are not management, regulators, or
some other non-investor group.

Entity Perspective

As part of the objective of general-purpose financial reporting, an entity perspective is
adopted. Companies are viewed as separate and distinct from their owners (present
shareholders) using this perspective. The assets of Hershey are viewed as assets of the
company and not of a specific creditor or shareholder. Rather, these investors have
claims on Hershey’s assets in the form of liability or equity claims. The entity perspec-
tive is consistent with the present business environment where most companies
engaged in financial reporting have substance distinct from their investors (both share-
holders and creditors). Thus, a perspective that financial reporting should be focused
only on the needs of shareholders—often referred to as the proprietary perspective—is
not considered appropriate.

DON’T FORGET STEWARDSHIP

In addition to providing decision-useful information about future cash flows, management also is

What do the accountable to investors for the custody and safekeeping of the company’s economic resources
numbers and for their efficient and profitable use. For example, the management of Hershey has the
mean? responsibility for protecting its economic resources from unfavorable effects of economic factors,

such as price changes, and technological and social changes. Because Hershey’s performance in
discharging its responsibilities (referred to as its stewardship responsibilities) usually affects its
ability to generate net cash inflows, financial reporting may also provide decision-useful informa-
tion to assess management performance in this role.”

Decision-Usefulness
Investors are interested in financial reporting because it provides information that is
useful for making decisions (referred to as the decision-usefulness approach). As indi-
cated earlier, when making these decisions, investors are interested in assessing (1) the
company’s ability to generate net cash inflows and (2) management’s ability to protect
and enhance the capital providers’ investments. Financial reporting should therefore
help investors assess the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of prospective cash inflows
from dividends or interest, and the proceeds from the sale, redemption, or maturity of
securities or loans. In order for investors to make these assessments, the economic re-
sources of an enterprise, the claims to those resources, and the changes in them must be
understood. Financial statements and related explanations should be a primary source
for determining this information.

The emphasis on “assessing cash flow prospects” does not mean that the cash basis
is preferred over the accrual basis of accounting. Information based on accrual account-
ing better indicates a company’s present and continuing ability to generate favorable

*Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, Chapter 1, “The Objective of General Purpose
Financial Reporting,” and Chapter 3, “Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information”
(Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, September 2010), paras. OB4-OB10.
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cash flows than does information limited to the financial effects of cash receipts and
payments.

Recall from your first accounting course the objective of accrual-basis accounting:
It ensures that a company records events that change its financial statements in the
periods in which the events occur, rather than only in the periods in which it receives
or pays cash. Using the accrual basis to determine net income means that a company
recognizes revenues when it provides the goods or services rather than when it receives
cash. Similarly, it recognizes expenses when it incurs them rather than when it pays
them. Under accrual accounting, a company generally recognizes revenues when it
makes sales. The company can then relate the revenues to the economic environment of
the period in which they occurred. Over the long run, trends in revenues and expenses
are generally more meaningful than trends in cash receipts and disbursements.’

The Need to Develop Standards

The main controversy in setting accounting standards is, “Whose rules should we
play by, and what should they be?” The answer is not immediately clear. Users of
financial accounting statements have both coinciding and conflicting needs for
information of various types. To meet these needs, and to satisfy the stewardship

@1 LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Explain the need for accounting
standards.

reporting responsibility of management, companies prepare a single set of general-
purpose financial statements. Users expect these statements to present fairly, clearly,
and completely the company’s financial operations.

The accounting profession has attempted to develop a set of standards that are gen-
erally accepted and universally practiced. Otherwise, each enterprise would have to
develop its own standards. Further, readers of financial statements would have to famil-
iarize themselves with every company’s peculiar accounting and reporting practices. It
would be almost impossible to prepare statements that could be compared.

This common set of standards and procedures is called generally accepted account-
ing principles (GAAP). The term “generally accepted” means either that an authorita-
tive accounting rule-making body has established a principle of reporting in a given
area or that over time a given practice has been accepted as appropriate because of
its universal application.* Although principles and practices continue to provoke both
debate and criticism, most members of the financial community recognize them as the
standards that over time have proven to be most useful. We present a more extensive
discussion of what constitutes GAAP later in this chapter.

PARTIES INVOLVED IN STANDARD-SETTING

Three organizations are instrumental in the development of financial accounting
standards (GAAP) in the United States:

ﬂ LEARNING OBJECTIVE
Identify the major policy-setting bodies
and their role in the standard-setting
process.

1. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

2. American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
3. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

*As used here, cash flow means “cash generated and used in operations.” The term cash flows
also frequently means cash obtained by borrowing and used to repay borrowing, cash used for
investments in resources and obtained from the disposal of investments, and cash contributed
by or distributed to owners.

“The terms principles and standards are used interchangeably in practice and throughout this
textbook.
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INTERNATIONAL
PERSPECTIVE

The International Organization

of Securities Commissions (I0SCO),
established in 1987, consists of more
than 100 securities regulatory
agencies or securities exchanges
from all over the world. Collectively, its
members represent a substantial
proportion of the world’s capital
markets. The SEC is a member of
10SCO.

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

External financial reporting and auditing developed in tandem with the growth of
the industrial economy and its capital markets. However, when the stock market
crashed in 1929 and the nation’s economy plunged into the Great Depression, there
were calls for increased government regulation of business generally, and especially
financial institutions and the stock market.

As a result of these events, the federal government established the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) to help develop and standardize financial infor-
mation presented to stockholders. The SEC is a federal agency. It administers the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and several other acts. Most companies that issue
securities to the public or are listed on a stock exchange are required to file audited
financial statements with the SEC. In addition, the SEC has broad powers to pre-
scribe, in whatever detail it desires, the accounting practices and standards to be
employed by companies that fall within its jurisdiction. The SEC currently exercises
oversight over 12,000 companies that are listed on the major exchanges (e.g., the
New York Stock Exchange and the Nasdagq).

Public/Private Partnership

At the time the SEC was created, no group—public or private—issued accounting stan-
dards. The SEC encouraged the creation of a private standard-setting body because it
believed that the private sector had the appropriate resources and talent to achieve this
daunting task. As a result, accounting standards have developed in the private sector
either through the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) or the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

The SEC has affirmed its support for the FASB by indicating that financial state-
ments conforming to standards set by the FASB are presumed to have substantial
authoritative support. In short, the SEC requires registrants to adhere to GAAP. In
addition, the SEC indicated in its reports to Congress that “it continues to believe that
the initiative for establishing and improving accounting standards should remain in the
private sector, subject to Commission oversight.”

SEC Oversight

The SEC’s partnership with the private sector works well. The SEC acts with remarkable
restraint in the area of developing accounting standards. Generally, the SEC relies on
the FASB to develop accounting standards.

The SEC’s involvement in the development of accounting standards varies. In some
cases, the SEC rejects a standard proposed by the private sector. In other cases, the SEC
prods the private sector into taking quicker action on certain reporting problems, such as
accounting for investments in debt and equity securities and the reporting of derivative
instruments. In still other situations, the SEC communicates problems to the FASB, responds
to FASB exposure drafts, and provides the FASB with counsel and advice upon request.

The SEC’s mandate is to establish accounting principles. The private sector, there-
fore, must listen carefully to the views of the SEC. In some sense, the private sector is the
formulator and the implementor of the standards.” However, when the private sector

°One writer described the relationship of the FASB and SEC and the development of financial
reporting standards using the analogy of a pearl. The pearl (a financial reporting standard) “is
formed by the reaction of certain oysters (FASB) to an irritant (the SEC)—usually a grain of
sand—that becomes embedded inside the shell. The oyster coats this grain with layers of nacre,
and ultimately a pearl is formed. The pearl is a joint result of the irritant (SEC) and oyster
(FASB); without both, it cannot be created.” John C. Burton, “Government Regulation of
Accounting and Information,” Journal of Accountancy (June 1982).
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fails to address accounting problems as quickly as the SEC would like, the partner- = =

ship between the SEC and the private sector can be strained. This occurred in the = PerspecTIVE
fiehberat'lons. on the accounting for business coml?ma’aons and intangible assets.. It rous aqal system is
is also highlighted by concerns over the accounting for off-balance-sheet special- pageq on English common law,
purpose entities, highlighted in the failure of Enron and, more recently, the whereby the government generally

subprime crises that led to the failure of IndyMac Bank. allows professionals to make the rules.
The private sector, therefore, develops
these rules (standards). Conversely,

Enforcement some countries have followed codified

As we indicated earlier, companies listed on a stock exchange must submit their &, which leads to government-run
financial statements to the SEC. If the SEC believes that an accounting or disclosure CERTY B,
irregularity exists regarding the form or content of the financial statements,

it sends a deficiency letter to the company. Companies usually resolve these deficiency

letters quickly. If disagreement continues, the SEC may issue a “stop order,” which

prevents the registrant from issuing or trading securities on the exchanges. The Depart-

ment of Justice may also file criminal charges for violations of certain laws. The SEC

process, private sector initiatives, and civil and criminal litigation help to ensure the

integrity of financial reporting for public companies.

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)

The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), which is the
national professional organization of practicing Certified Public Accountants (CPAs),
has been an important contributor to the development of GAAP. Various committees
and boards established since the founding of the AICPA have contributed to this effort.

Committee on Accounting Procedure

At the urging of the SEC, the AICPA appointed the Committee on Accounting Proce-
dure in 1939. The Committee on Accounting Procedure (CAP), composed of practicing
CPAs, issued 51 Accounting Research Bulletins during the years 1939 to 1959. These
bulletins dealt with a variety of accounting problems. But this problem-by-problem
approach failed to provide the needed structured body of accounting principles. In
response, in 1959 the AICPA created the Accounting Principles Board.

Accounting Principles Board

The major purposes of the Accounting Principles Board (APB) were to (1) advance the
written expression of accounting principles, (2) determine appropriate practices, and
(3) narrow the areas of difference and inconsistency in practice. To achieve these objec-
tives, the APB’s mission was twofold: to develop an overall conceptual framework to
assist in the resolution of problems as they become evident and to substantively
research individual issues before the AICPA issued pronouncements. The Board’s 18 to
21 members, selected primarily from public accounting, also included representatives
from industry and academia. The Board’s official pronouncements, called APB
Opinions, were intended to be based mainly on research studies and be supported by
reason and analysis. Between its inception in 1959 and its dissolution in 1973, the APB
issued 31 opinions.

Unfortunately, the APB came under fire early, charged with lack of productivity and
failing to act promptly to correct alleged accounting abuses. Later, the APB tackled nu-
merous thorny accounting issues, only to meet a buzz saw of opposition from industry
and CPA firms. It also ran into occasional governmental interference. In 1971, the
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accounting profession’s leaders, anxious to avoid governmental rule-making, appointed
a Study Group on Establishment of Accounting Principles. Commonly known as the
Wheat Committee for its chair Francis Wheat, this group examined the organization
and operation of the APB and determined the necessary changes to attain better results.
The Study Group submitted its recommendations to the AICPA Council in the spring of
1972. The AICPA Council adopted the recommendations in total, and implemented
them by early 1973.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)

The Wheat Committee’s recommendations resulted in the demise of the APB and
the creation of a new standard-setting structure composed of three organizations—the
Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF), the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), and the Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council (FASAC). The
Financial Accounting Foundation selects the members of the FASB and the Advisory
Council, funds their activities, and generally oversees the FASB’s activities.

The major operating organization in this three-part structure is the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB). Its mission is to establish and improve standards
of financial accounting and reporting for the guidance and education of the public,
which includes issuers, auditors, and users of financial information. The expectations of
success and support for the new FASB relied on several significant differences between
it and its predecessor, the APB:

1. Smaller membership. The FASB consists of seven members, replacing the relatively
large 18-member APB.

2. Full-time, remunerated membership. FASB members are well-paid, full-time mem-
bers appointed for renewable 5-year terms. The APB members volunteered their
part-time work.

3. Greater autonomy. The APB was a senior committee of the AICPA. The FASB is not
part of any single professional organization. It is appointed by and answerable only
to the Financial Accounting Foundation.

4. Increased independence. APB members retained their private positions with firms,
companies, or institutions. FASB members must sever all such ties.

5. Broader representation. All APB members were required to be CPAs and members
of the AICPA. Currently, it is not necessary to be a CPA to be a member of the
FASB.

In addition to research help from its own staff, the FASB relies on the expertise of
various task force groups formed for various projects and on the Financial Accounting
Standards Advisory Council (FASAC). The FASAC consults with the FASB on major
policy and technical issues and also helps select task force members. [llustration 1-2
shows the current organizational structure for the development of financial reporting
standards.

Due Process

In establishing financial accounting standards, the FASB relies on two basic premises:
(1) The FASB should be responsive to the needs and viewpoints of the entire economic
community, not just the public accounting profession. (2) It should operate in full view
of the public through a “due process” system that gives interested persons ample op-
portunity to make their views known. To ensure the achievement of these goals, the
FASB follows specific steps to develop a typical FASB Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards, as Illustration 1-3 shows.
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ILLUSTRATION 1-2
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Organizational Structure
for Setting Accounting
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h 4

Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB)

Staff and Task
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Purpose

To establish and improve standards of
financial accounting and reporting for the
guidance and education of the public,
including issuers, auditors, and users of
financial information.

Purpose
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(FASAC)

Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Committee

Purpose

To consult on major policy issues,
technical issues, project priorities,
and selection and organization of

task forces.

The passage of a new FASB Standards Statement requires the support of four of the
seven Board members. FASB Statements are considered GAAP and thereby binding in
practice. All ARBs and APB Opinions implemented by 1973 (when the FASB formed)
continue to be effective until amended or superseded by FASB pronouncements. In

ILLUSTRATION 1-3

The Due Process System
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recognition of possible misconceptions of the term “principles,” the FASB uses the term
financial accounting standards in its pronouncements.

Types of Pronouncements
The FASB issues three major types of pronouncements:

1. Standards, Interpretations, and Staff Positions.
2. Financial Accounting Concepts.
3. Emerging Issues Task Force Statements.

Standards, Interpretations, and Staff Positions. Financial accounting standards issued
by the FASB are considered generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, the
FASB has also issued interpretations that modify or extend existing standards. Interpre-
tations have the same authority, and require the same votes for passage, as standards.
The APB also issued interpretations of APB Opinions. Both types of interpretations are
now considered authoritative for purposes of determining GAAP. Finally, the FASB is-
sues staff positions, which provide interpretive guidance and also minor amendments
to standards and interpretations. These staff positions have the same authority as stan-
dards and interpretations. The Board also has issued FASB Technical Bulletins, which
provide timely guidance on selected issues; staff positions are now used in lieu of tech-
nical bulletins. Since replacing the APB, the FASB has issued over 160 standards, 48 in-
terpretations, and nearly 100 staff positions.

Financial Accounting Concepts. As part of a long-range effort to move away from the
problem-by-problem approach, the FASB in November 1978 issued the first in a series
of Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts as part of its conceptual framework
project. (The Concepts Statement can be accessed at http://www.fasb.org/.) The series
sets forth fundamental objectives and concepts that the Board uses in developing future
standards of financial accounting and reporting. The Board intends to form a cohesive
set of interrelated concepts—a conceptual framework—that will serve as tools for solv-
ing existing and emerging problems in a consistent manner. Unlike a Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards, a Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts does
not establish GAAP. Concepts statements, however, pass through the same due pro-
cess system (preliminary views, public hearing, exposure draft, etc.) as do standards
statements.

Emerging Issues Task Force Statements. In 1984, the FASB created the Emerging Issues
Task Force (EITF). The EITF is comprised of representatives from CPA firms and finan-
cial statement preparers. Observers from the SEC and AICPA also attend EITF meetings.
The purpose of the task force is to reach a consensus on how to account for new and
unusual financial transactions that may potentially create differing financial reporting
practices. Examples include accounting for pension plan terminations, revenue from
barter transactions by Internet companies, and excessive amounts paid to takeover spe-
cialists. The EITF also provided timely guidance for the accounting for loans and invest-
ments in the wake of the credit crisis.

We cannot overestimate the importance of the EITE. In one year, for example, the
task force examined 61 emerging financial reporting issues and arrived at a consensus
on approximately 75 percent of them. The FASB reviews and approves all EITF consen-
suses. And the SEC indicated that it will view consensus solutions as preferred account-
ing. Further, it requires persuasive justification for departing from them.

The EITF helps the FASB in many ways. For example, emerging issues often attract
public attention. If not resolved quickly, they can lead to financial crises and scandal.
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They can also undercut public confidence in current reporting practices. The next step,
possible governmental intervention, would threaten the continuance of standard-
setting in the private sector. The EITF identifies controversial accounting problems as
they arise. The EITF determines whether it can quickly resolve them, or whether to
involve the FASB in solving them. In essence, it becomes a “problem filter” for the FASB.
Thus, the FASB will hopefully work on more pervasive long-term problems, while the
EITF deals with short-term emerging issues.

Changing Role of the AICPA

For several decades, the AICPA provided leadership in developing accounting principles
and rules. More than any other organization, it regulated the accounting profession, and
developed and enforced accounting practice. When the FASB replaced the Accounting
Principles Board, the AICPA established the Accounting Standards Executive Committee
(AcSEC) as the committee authorized to speak for the AICPA in the area of financial
accounting and reporting. It does so through various written communications:

Audit and Accounting Guides summarize the accounting practices of specific indus-
tries and provide specific guidance on matters not addressed by the FASB. Examples
are accounting for casinos, airlines, colleges and universities, banks, insurance
companies, and many others.

Statements of Position (SOP) provide guidance on financial reporting topics until
the FASB sets standards on the issue in question. SOPs may update, revise, and
clarify audit and accounting guides or provide free-standing guidance.

Practice Bulletins indicate AcSEC’s views on narrow financial reporting issues not
considered by the FASB.

The role of the AICPA in standard-setting has diminished. The FASB and the AICPA
agree that the AICPA and AcSEC no longer will issue authoritative accounting guidance
for public companies. Furthermore, while the AICPA has been the leader in developing
auditing standards through its Auditing Standards Board, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 requires the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board to oversee the develop-
ment of auditing standards. The AICPA will continue to develop and grade the CPA
examination, which is administered in all 50 states.

GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) have substantial authoritative
support. The AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct requires that members pre- _ ,
. . . . - . Explain the meaning of generally
pare financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Specifically, Rule 203 of this -
o . o 2. . . accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
Code prohibits a member from expressing an unqualified opinion on financial | .4 the role of the Codification for
statements that contain a material departure from generally accepted accounting § GAAP

&3 LEARNING OBJECTIVE

principles.

What is GAAP? The major sources of GAAP come from the organizations discussed
earlier in this chapter. It is composed of a mixture of over 2,000 documents that have
developed over the last 60 years or so. It includes such items as FASB Standards,
Interpretations, and Staff Positions; APB Opinions; and AICPA Research Bulletins.
[lustration 1-4 (on page 14) highlights the many different types of documents that
comprise GAAP.
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ILLUSTRATION 1-4
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FASB Codification

As might be expected, the documents that comprise GAAP vary in format, completeness,
and structure. In some cases, these documents are inconsistent and difficult to interpret.
As a result, financial statement preparers sometimes are not sure whether they have the
right GAAP; determining what is authoritative and what is not becomes difficult.

In response to these concerns, the FASB developed the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board Accounting Standards Codification (or more simply, “the Codification”).
The FASB’s primary goal in developing the Codification is to provide in one place all the
authoritative literature related to a particular topic. This will simplify user access to all
authoritative U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Codification changes
the way GAAP is documented, presented, and updated. It explains what GAAP is and
eliminates nonessential information such as redundant document summaries, basis for
conclusions sections, and historical content. In short, the Codification integrates and
synthesizes existing GAAP; it does not create new GAAP. It creates one level of GAAP,
which is considered authoritative. All other accounting literature is considered non-
authoritative.®

When the Board approves a new standard, staff position, etc., the results of that
process are included in the Codification through an Accounting Standards Update. The
update is composed of the background and basis for conclusions for the new pronounce-
ment with a common format, regardless of the form in which such guidance may have
been issued (e.g., EITF abstracts, FASB staff positions, FASB statements, and FASB inter-
pretations). Accounting Standards Updates are also issued for amendments to the SEC
content in the Codification.

To provide easy access to this Codification, the FASB also developed the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Codification Research System (CRS). CRS is an online
real-time database that provides easy access to the Codification. The Codification and
the related CRS provide a topically organized structure, subdivided into topic, subtopics,
sections, and paragraphs, using a numerical index system.

For purposes of referencing authoritative GAAP material in this textbook, we will
use the Codification framework. Here is an example of how the Codification framework
is cited, using Receivables as the example. The purpose of the search shown below is to

%The FASB Codification can be accessed at http://asc.fasb.org/home. Access to the full functionality
of the Codification Research System requires a subscription. Reduced-price academic access is
available through the American Accounting Association (see aaahq.org/FASB/Access.cfm). Prior to
the Codification, the profession relied on FASB 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles,” which defined the meaning of generally accepted accounting principles.
In that document, certain documents were deemed more authoritative than others, which led to
various levels of GAAP. Fortunately, the Codification does not have different levels of GAAP.
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determine GAAP for accounting for loans and trade receivables not held for sale sub-
sequent to initial measurement.

Topic Go to FASB ASC 310 to access the Receivables topic.
Subtopics Go to FASB ASC 310-10 to access the Overall Subtopic of the Topic 310.

Sections  Go to FASB ASC 310-10-35 to access the Subsequent Measurement
Section of the Subtopic 310-10.

Paragraph Go to FASB ASC 310-10-35-47 to access the Loans and Trade Receiv-
ables not Held for Sale paragraph of Section 310-10-35.

[lustration 1-5 shows the Codification framework graphically.

Topic ILLUSTRATION 1-5
Provides a collection of related guidance on a ; FASB Codification
given subject, such as receivables or leases. 310—Receivables Framework
y A\ 4
Subtopics
Subset of a topic and distinguished by type 40—Troubled-Debt
or scope. For example, overall and troubled-debt 10—Overall Restructu‘rlngs by
restructurings are two subtopics of receivables. Creditors
Y Y
Sections
Indicate the type of content in a subtopic, 30—Initial 35— Subsequent
such as initial measurement. In some Measurement NEEsurEmET:
cases, subsections are used but
not numbered.
Y
Paragraphs
This level is where you will find the substantive 47—Loans and
content related to the issue researched. Trade Receivables
(All other levels exist essentially to find the Not Held for Sale
material related to the paragraph level content.)

What happens if the Codification does not cover a certain type of transaction or
event? In that case, other accounting literature should be considered, such as FASB
Concept Statements, international financial reporting standards, and other professional
literature. This will happen only rarely.

The expectations for the Codification are high. It is hoped that the Codification will
enable users to better understand what GAAP is. As a result, the time to research ac-
counting issues and the risk of noncompliance with GAAP will be reduced, sometimes
substantially. In addition, the electronic Web-based format will make updating easier,
which will help users stay current with GAAP.

For individuals (like you) attempting to learn GAAP, the Codification will be in-
valuable. It is an outstanding effort by the profession to streamline and simplify how to
determine what GAAP is, which will lead to better financial accounting and reporting.
We provide references to the Codification throughout this textbook, using a numbering

"To increase the usefulness of the Codification for public companies, relevant authoritative
content issued by the SEC is included in the Codification. In the case of SEC content, an “S”
precedes the section number.
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) SeetheFASB system. For example, a bracket with a number, such as [1], indicates that the citation to
Codification section the FASB Codification can be found in the FASB Codification section at the end of the
at the end of each . . . .
chapter (immediately before the assignment materials).

chapter for Codification
references and

exercises.
YOU HAVE TO STEP BACK
Should the accounting profession have principles-based standards or rules-based standards?
What do the Critics of the profession today say that over the past three decades, standard-setters have moved
numbers away from broad accounting principles aimed at ensuring that companies’ financial statements
mean? are fairly presented.

Instead, these critics say, standard-setters have moved toward drafting voluminous rules
that, if technically followed in “check-box” fashion, may shield auditors and companies from
legal liability. That has resulted in companies creating complex capital structures that comply
with GAAP but hide billions of dollars of debt and other obligations. To add fuel to the fire, the
chief accountant of the enforcement division of the SEC recently noted, “One can violate SEC laws
and still comply with GAAP.”

In short, what he is saying is that it is not enough just to check the boxes. You have to exercise
judgment in applying GAAP to achieve high-quality reporting.

Sources: Adapted from S. Liesman, “SEC Accounting Cop’s Warning: Playing by the Rules May
Not Head Off Fraud Issues,” Wall Street Journal (February 12,2002), p. C7. See also “Study Pursuant
to Section 108(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption by the United States
Financial Reporting System of a Principles-Based Accounting System,” SEC (July 25, 2003).

ISSUES IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

Since the implementation of GAAP may affect many interests, much discussion occurs
about who should develop GAAP and to whom it should apply. We discuss some of the
major issues below.

GAAP in a Political Environment

User groups are possibly the most powerful force influencing the development of
GAAP. User groups consist of those most interested in or affected by accounting
rules. Like lobbyists in our state and national capitals, user groups play a signifi-
cant role. GAAP is as much a product of political action as it is of careful logic or

empirical findings. User groups may want particular economic events accounted for
or reported in a particular way, and they fight hard to get what they want. They know
that the most effective way to influence GAAP is to participate in the formulation of
these rules or to try to influence or persuade the formulator of them.

These user groups often target the FASB, to pressure it to influence changes in the
existing rules and the development of new ones.” In fact, these pressures have been
multiplying. Some influential groups demand that the accounting profession act more
quickly and decisively to solve its problems. Other groups resist such action, preferring
to implement change more slowly, if at all. Illustration 1-6 shows the various user groups
that apply pressure.

LEARNING OBJECTIVE D

Describe the impact of user groups on
the rule-making process.

SFASB board members acknowledged that they undertook many of the Board’s projects, such as
“Accounting for Contingencies,” “Accounting for Pensions,” “Statement of Cash Flows,” and
“Accounting for Derivatives,” due to political pressure.
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ILLUSTRATION 1-6
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Should there be politics in establishing GAAP for financial accounting and report-
ing? Why not? We have politics at home; at school; at the fraternity, sorority, and dormi-
tory; at the office; and at church, temple, and mosque. Politics is everywhere. GAAP is
part of the real world, and it cannot escape politics and political pressures.

FAIR CONSEQUENCES?

No recent accounting issue better illustrates the economic consequences of accounting than the

current debate over the use of fair value accounting for financial assets. Both the FASB and the What do the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have standards requiring the use of fair value num bers
accounting for financial assets, such as investments and other financial instruments. Fair value mean ?
provides the most relevant and reliable information for investors about these assets and liabilities.
However, in the wake of the recent credit crisis, some countries, their central banks, and bank
regulators want to suspend fair value accounting, based on concerns that use of fair value
accounting, which calls for recording significant losses on poorly performing loans and investments,
could scare investors and depositors and lead to a “run on the bank.”

For example, in 2009, Congress ordered the FASB to change its accounting rules so as to
reduce the losses banks reported, as the values of their securities had crumbled. These changes
were generally supported by banks. But these changes produced a strong reaction from some
investors, with one investor group complaining that the changes would “effectively gut the trans-
parent application of fair value measurement.” The group also says suspending fair value accounting
would delay the recovery of the banking system.

Such political pressure on accounting standard-setters is not confined to the United States.
For example, French President Nicolas Sarkozy is urging his European Union counterparts to back
changes to accounting rules and give banks and insurers some breathing space amid the market
turmoil. Mr. Sarkozy seeks new regulations, including changes to the mark-to-market accounting
rules that have been blamed for aggravating the crisis. It is unclear whether these political pres-
sures will have an effect on fair value accounting, but there is no question that the issue has stirred
significant worldwide political debate. In short, the numbers have consequences.

Source: Adapted from Ben Hall and Nikki Tait, “Sarkozy Seeks EU Accounting Change,” The
Financial Times Limited (September 30, 2008), and Floyd Norris, “Banks Are Set to Receive More
Leeway on Asset Values,” New York Times (March 31, 2009).
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"
INTERNATIONAL
PERSPECTIVE

Foreign accounting firms

that provide an audit report

for a U.S.-listed company are subject
to the authority of the accounting
oversight board (mandated by the
Sarbanes-0xley Act).

That is not to say that politics in establishing GAAP is a negative force. Considering
the economic consequences’ of many accounting rules, special interest groups should
vocalize their reactions to proposed rules. What the Board should not do is issue pro-
nouncements that are primarily politically motivated. While paying attention to its
constituencies, the Board should base GAAP on sound research and a conceptual frame-
work that has its foundation in economic reality.

The Expectations Gap

Accounting scandals at companies like Enron, Cendant, Sunbeam, Rite-Aid,
Xerox, and WorldCom have attracted the attention of Congress. As a result, it en-
acted legislation—the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This law increases the resources for the
SEC to combat fraud and curb poor reporting practices.'” And the SEC has increased
its policing efforts, approving new auditor independence rules and materiality
guidelines for financial reporting. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act introduces
sweeping changes to the institutional structure of the accounting profession. The
following are some of the key provisions of the legislation.

0
ab

e Establishes an oversight board, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB), for accounting practices. The PCAOB has oversight and enforcement
authority and establishes auditing, quality control, and independence standards
and rules.

* Implements stronger independence rules for auditors. Audit partners, for example,
are required to rotate every five years, and auditors are prohibited from offering
certain types of consulting services to corporate clients.

* Requires CEOs and CFOs to personally certify that financial statements and disclo-
sures are accurate and complete, and requires CEOs and CFOs to forfeit bonuses
and profits when there is an accounting restatement.

* Requires audit committees to be comprised of independent members and members
with financial expertise.

* Requires codes of ethics for senior financial officers.

In addition, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires public companies to
attest to the effectiveness of their internal controls over financial reporting. Internal
controls are a system of checks and balances designed to prevent and detect fraud and
errors. Most companies have these systems in place, but many have never completely
documented them. Companies are finding that it is a costly process but perhaps badly
needed. Already, intense examination of internal controls has found lingering problems
in the way companies operate. Recently, 424 companies reported deficiencies in internal
control."! Many problems involved closing the books, revenue recognition deficiencies,
reconciling accounts, or dealing with inventory. SunTrust Bank, for example, fired three
officers after discovering errors in how the company calculates its allowance for bad

°Economic consequences means the impact of accounting reports on the wealth positions of issuers
and users of financial information, and the decision-making behavior resulting from that impact.
The resulting behavior of these individuals and groups could have detrimental financial effects
on the providers of the financial information. See Stephen A. Zeff, “The Rise of ‘Economic

Consequences’,” Journal of Accountancy (December 1978), pp. 56-63. We extend appreciation to
Professor Zeff for his insights on this chapter.

9Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, H. R. Rep. No. 107-610 (2002).

1 eah Townsend, “Internal Control Deficiency Disclosures—Interim Alert,” Yellow Card—
Interim Trend Alert (April 12, 2005), Glass, Lewis & Co., LLC.
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debts. And Visteon, a car parts supplier, said it found problems recording and managing
receivables from its largest customer, Ford Motor.

Will these changes be enough? The expectations gap—what the public thinks accoun-
tants should do and what accountants think they can do—is difficult to close. Due to the
number of fraudulent reporting cases, some question whether the profession is doing
enough. Although the profession can argue rightfully that accounting cannot be respon-
sible for every financial catastrophe, it must continue to strive to meet the needs of society.
However, efforts to meet these needs will become more costly to society. The development
of a highly transparent, clear, and reliable system will require considerable resources.

Financial Reporting Challenges

While our reporting model has worked well in capturing and organizing financial
information in a useful and reliable fashion, much still needs to be done. For
example, if we move to the year 2022 and look back at financial reporting today,
we might read the following.

€] LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Describe some of the challenges facing
financial reporting.

* Nonfinancial measurements. Financial reports failed to provide some key perfor-
mance measures widely used by management, such as customer satisfaction in-
dexes, backlog information, and reject rates on goods purchased.

Forward-looking information. Financial reports failed to provide forward-looking
information needed by present and potential investors and creditors. One individual
noted that financial statements in 2012 should have started with the phrase, “Once
upon a time,” to signify their use of historical cost and accumulation of past events.

Soft assets. Financial reports focused on hard assets (inventory, plant assets) but
failed to provide much information about a company’s soft assets (intangibles). The
best assets are often intangible. Consider Microsoft’s know-how and market domi-
nance, Wal-Mart’s expertise in supply chain management, and Proctor & Gamble’s
brand image.

Timeliness. Companies only prepared financial statements quarterly and provided
audited financials annually. Little to no real-time financial statement information
was available.

We believe each of these challenges must be met for the accounting profession to
provide the type of information needed for an efficient capital allocation process. We are
confident that changes will occur, based on these positive signs:

* Already, some companies voluntarily disclose information deemed relevant to
investors. Often such information is nonfinancial. For example, banking companies
now disclose data on loan growth, credit quality, fee income, operating efficiency,
capital management, and management strategy.

Initially, companies used the Internet to provide limited financial data. Now, most
companies publish their annual reports in several formats on the Web. The most
innovative companies offer sections of their annual reports in a format that the user
can readily manipulate, such as in an electronic spreadsheet format. Companies also
format their financial reports using eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL),
which permits quicker and lower-cost access to companies’ financial information.

More accounting standards now require the recording or disclosing of fair value
information. For example, companies either record investments in stocks and bonds,
debt obligations, and derivatives at fair value, or companies show information re-
lated to fair values in the notes to the financial statements.

Changes in these directions will enhance the relevance of financial reporting and pro-
vide useful information to financial statement readers.
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International Accounting Standards

Former Secretary of the Treasury, Lawrence Summers, has indicated that the single most
important innovation shaping the capital markets was the idea of generally accepted ac-
counting principles. He went on to say that we need something similar internationally.
We believe that the Secretary is right. Relevant and reliable financial information
is a necessity for viable capital markets. Unfortunately, companies outside the United States
often prepare financial statements using standards different from U.S. GAAP (or simply
GAAP). As a result, international companies such as Coca-Cola, Microsoft, and IBM have
to develop financial information in different ways. Beyond the additional costs these com-
panies incur, users of the financial statements often must understand at least two sets of
accounting standards. (Understanding one set is hard enough!) It is not surprising, there-
fore, that there is a growing demand for one set of high-quality international standards.
Presently, there are two sets of rules accepted for international use—GAAP and
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the London-
based International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). U.S. companies that list
: . overseas are still permitted to use GAAP, and foreign companies listed on U.S.
referred to as International Financial . . T
Reporting Standards (FRS), developed exchanges are permitted to use IFRS. As you will learn, there are many similarities
by the IASB. The predecessor to the between GAAP and TFRS.
IASB issued International Accounting Already over 115 countries use IFRS, and the European Union now requires all
Standards (IAS). listed companies in Europe (over 7,000 companies) to use it. The SEC laid out a road-
map by which all U.S. companies might be required to use IFRS by 2015. Most parties
recognize that global markets will best be served if only one set of accounting stan-
dards is used. For example, the FASB and the IASB formalized their commitment to the
convergence of GAAP and IFRS by issuing a memorandum of understanding (often
referred to as the Norwalk agreement). The two boards agreed to use their best efforts to:

-
INTERNATIONAL &

PERSPECTIVE

IFRS includes the standards,

* Make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as prac-
ticable, and

* Coordinate their future work programs to ensure that once achieved, compatibility
is maintained.

As a result of this agreement, the two Boards identified a number of short-term
and long-term projects that would lead to convergence. For example, one short-term
project was for the FASB to issue a rule that permits a fair value option for financial
The adoption of IFRS by US. - instruments. This rule was issued in 2007, and now the FASB and the IASB follow the
companies would make it easier to same accounting in this area. Conversely, the IASB completed a project related to
compare U.S. and foreign companies, - . / )
as well as for U.S. companies fo raise ~ POrrowing costs, which makes IFRS consistent with GAAP. Long-term convergence
capital in foreign markets. projects relate to such issues as revenue recognition, the conceptual framework, and

leases.

Because convergence is such an important issue, we provide a discussion of
international accounting standards at the end of each chapter called IFRS Insights.
This feature will help you understand the changes that are taking place in the
financial reporting area as we move to one set of international standards. In addition,
throughout the textbook we provide in the margins International Perspectives to help you
understand the international reporting environment.

INTERNATIONAL
PERSPECTIVE

Ethics in the Environment of Financial Accounting

Robert Sack, a noted commentator on the subject of accounting ethics, observed,
“Based on my experience, new graduates tend to be idealistic . . . thank goodness
for that! Still it is very dangerous to think that your armor is all in place and say to
yourself, ‘I would have never given in to that.” The pressures don’t explode on us;
they build, and we often don’t recognize them until they have us.”

LEARNING OBJECTIVE E)

Understand issues related to ethics
and financial accounting.
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These observations are particularly appropriate for anyone entering the business
world. In accounting, as in other areas of business, we frequently encounter ethical di-
lemmas. Some of these dilemmas are simple and easy to resolve. However, many are
not, requiring difficult choices among allowable alternatives.

Companies that concentrate on “maximizing the bottom line,” “facing the challenges
of competition,” and “stressing short-term results” place accountants in an environment
of conflict and pressure. Basic questions such as, “Is this way of communicating financial
information good or bad?” “Is it right or wrong?” and “What should I do in the circum-
stance?” cannot always be answered by simply adhering to GAAP or following the
rules of the profession. Technical competence is not enough when encountering ethical
decisions.

Doing the right thing is not always easy or obvious. The pressures “to bend the Gateway to
rules,” “to play the game,” or “to just ignore it” can be considerable. For example, “Will the Profession
my decision affect my job performance negatively?” “Will my superiors be upset?” and Expanded Discussion

of Ethical Issues in

“Will my colleagues be unhappy with me?” are often questions business people face in Financial Reporting

making a tough ethical decision. The decision is more difficult because there is no com-
prehensive ethical system to provide guidelines.

Time, job, client, personal, and peer pressures can complicate the process of ethical
sensitivity and selection among alternatives. Throughout this textbook, we present
ethical considerations to help sensitize you to the type of situations you may encoun-
ter in the performance of your professional responsibility.

Conclusion

Bob Herz, former FASB chairman, believes that there are three fundamental consider-
ations the FASB must keep in mind in its rule-making activities: (1) improvement in
financial reporting, (2) simplification of the accounting literature and the rule-making
process, and (3) international convergence. These are notable objectives, and the Board
is making good progress on all three dimensions. Issues such as off-balance-sheet
financing, measurement of fair values, enhanced criteria for revenue recognition, and
stock option accounting are examples of where the Board has exerted leadership.
Improvements in financial reporting should follow.

Also, the Board is making it easier to understand what GAAP is. GAAP has been
contained in a number of different documents. The lack of a single source makes it diffi-
cult to access and understand generally accepted principles. As discussed earlier, the
Codification now organizes existing GAAP by accounting topic regardless of its source
(FASB Statements, APB Opinions, and so on). The codified standards are then considered to
be GAAP and to be authoritative. All other literature will be considered nonauthoritative.

Finally, international convergence is underway. Some projects already are com-
pleted and differences eliminated. Many more are on the drawing board. It appears to
be only a matter of time until we will have one set of global accounting standards that
will be established by the IASB. The profession has many challenges, but it has
responded in a timely, comprehensive, and effective manner.

3%

You will want to read the
IFRS INSIGHTS
on pages 32—40

for discussion of IFRS and
the international reporting
environment.
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SUMMARY OF LEARNING OBJECTIVES

ED Identify the major financial statements and other means of financial report-
ing. Companies most frequently provide (1) the balance sheet, (2) the income statement,
(3) the statement of cash flows, and (4) the statement of owners’ or stockholders’ equity.
Financial reporting other than financial statements may take various forms. Examples
include the president’s letter and supplementary schedules in the corporate annual
report, prospectuses, reports filed with government agencies, news releases, manage-
ment’s forecasts, and descriptions of a company’s social or environmental impact.

E» Explain how accounting assists in the efficient use of scarce resources.
Accounting provides reliable, relevant, and timely information to managers, investors,
and creditors to allow resource allocation to the most efficient enterprises. Accounting
also provides measurements of efficiency (profitability) and financial soundness.

ED Identify the objective of financial reporting. The objective of general-purpose
financial reporting is to provide financial information about the reporting entity that is
useful to present and potential equity investors, lenders, and other creditors in decisions
about providing resources to the entity through equity investments and loans or other
forms of credit. Information that is decision-useful to investors may also be helpful to
other users of financial reporting who are not investors.

E» Explain the need for accounting standards. The accounting profession has at-
tempted to develop a set of standards that is generally accepted and universally practiced.
Without this set of standards, each company would have to develop its own standards.
Readers of financial statements would have to familiarize themselves with every com-
pany’s peculiar accounting and reporting practices. As a result, it would be almost
impossible to prepare statements that could be compared.

) Identify the major policy-setting bodies and their role in the standard-setting
process. The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is a federal agency that has the
broad powers to prescribe, in whatever detail it desires, the accounting standards to be
employed by companies that fall within its jurisdiction. The American Institute of Certi-
fied Public Accountants (AICPA) issued standards through its Committee on Accounting
Procedure and Accounting Principles Board. The Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) establishes and improves standards of financial accounting and reporting for the
guidance and education of the public.

[ Explain the meaning of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
and the role of the Codification for GAAP. Generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) are those principles that have substantial authoritative support, such as FASB
standards, interpretations, and staff positions, APB Opinions and interpretations, AICPA
Accounting Research Bulletins, and other authoritative pronouncements. All these doc-
uments and others are now classified in one document referred to as the Codification.
The purpose of the Codification is to simplify user access to all authoritative U.S. GAAP.
The Codification changes the way GAAP is documented, presented, and updated.

ED Describe the impact of user groups on the rule-making process. User groups
may want particular economic events accounted for or reported in a particular way, and
they fight hard to get what they want. They especially target the FASB to influence changes
in existing GAAP and in the development of new rules. Because of the accelerated rate of
change and the increased complexity of our economy, these pressures have been multiply-
ing. GAAP is as much a product of political action as it is of careful logic or empirical find-
ings. The IASB is working with the FASB toward international convergence of GAAP.



E) Describe some of the challenges facing financial reporting. Financial reports
fail to provide (1) some key performance measures widely used by management,
(2) forward-looking information needed by investors and creditors, (3) sufficient infor-
mation on a company’s soft assets (intangibles), and (4) real-time financial information.

E) Understand issues related to ethics and financial accounting. Financial ac-
countants are called on for moral discernment and ethical decision-making. Decisions
sometimes are difficult because a public consensus has not emerged to formulate a com-
prehensive ethical system that provides guidelines in making ethical judgments.

Exercises

FASB CODIFICATION

Questions 23

Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), 8
staff positions, 12
Standards Statement, 11
Statement of Financial
Accounting
Concepts, 12

Wheat Committee, 10

Academic access to the FASB Codification is available through university subscriptions, obtained from the American
Accounting Association (at http://aaahq.org/FASB/Access.cfm), for an annual fee of $150. This subscription covers an
unlimited number of students within a single institution. Once this access has been obtained by your school, you
should log in (at http://aaahq.org/ascLogin.cfm) to prepare responses to the following exercises.

CE1-1 Register for access to the FASB Codification. You will need to enter an email address and provide a password.
Familiarize yourself with the resources that are accessible at the FASB Codification homepage.

CE1-2 Click on the “Notice to Participants.”

(a) Briefly describe the three main elements that are provided in the module.
(b) What are the primary purposes for development of the Codification?

CE1-3 Briefly describe the purpose and content of the “What’s New” link.

Be sure to check the book’s companion website for a Review and Analysis Exercise, with solution.

Questions, Brief Exercises, Exercises, Problems, and
many more resources are available for practice in WileyPLUS.

PLUS

QUESTIONS

1. Differentiate broadly between financial accounting and
managerial accounting.

. s . s ” s ?
2. Differentiate between “financial statements” and “finan- and standards

8. In what way is the Securities and Exchange Commission
concerned about and supportive of accounting principles

cial reporting.”
. How does accounting help the capital allocation process?
. What is the objective of financial reporting?

. Briefly explain the meaning of decision-usefulness in the
context of financial reporting.

. Of what value is a common set of standards in financial
accounting and reporting?

. What is the likely limitation of “general-purpose financial
statements”?

10.

11.

12.

. What was the Committee on Accounting Procedure, and

what were its accomplishments and failings?

For what purposes did the AICPA in 1959 create the
Accounting Principles Board?

Distinguish among Accounting Research Bulletins, Opin-
ions of the Accounting Principles Board, and Statements
of the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

If you had to explain or define “generally accepted
accounting principles or standards,” what essential char-
acteristics would you include in your explanation?


http://aaahq.org/FASB/Access.cfm
http://aaahq.org/ascLogin.cfm
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13.

14.

15.

16.
17.

18.

19.
20.

21.

22.
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In what ways was it felt that the statements issued by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board would carry
greater weight than the opinions issued by the Account-
ing Principles Board?

How are FASB preliminary views and FASB exposure
drafts related to FASB “statements”?

Distinguish between FASB “statements of financial ac-
counting standards” and FASB “statements of financial
accounting concepts.”

What is Rule 203 of the Code of Professional Conduct?

Rank from the most authoritative to the least authorita-
tive, the following three items: FASB Technical Bulletins,
AICPA Practice Bulletins, and FASB Standards.

The chairman of the FASB at one time noted that “the flow
of standards can only be slowed if (1) producers
focus less on quarterly earnings per share and tax benefits
and more on quality products, and (2) accountants and
lawyers rely less on rules and law and more on profes-
sional judgment and conduct.” Explain his comment.

What is the purpose of FASB staff positions?

Explain the role of the Emerging Issues Task Force in
establishing generally accepted accounting principles.
What is the difference between the Codification and the
Codification Research System?

What are the primary advantages of having a Codifica-
tion of generally accepted accounting principles?

23.

24.

25.
26.
27.
28.

29.

30.

CONCEPTS FOR ANALYSIS

What are the sources of pressure that change and influ-
ence the development of GAAP?

Some individuals have indicated that the FASB must be
cognizant of the economic consequences of its pronounce-
ments. What is meant by “economic consequences”? What
dangers exist if politics play too much of a role in the de-
velopment of GAAP?

If you were given complete authority in the matter, how
would you propose that GAAP should be developed and
enforced?

One writer recently noted that 99.4 percent of all compa-
nies prepare statements that are in accordance with GAAP.
Why then is there such concern about fraudulent financial
reporting?

What is the “expectations gap”? What is the profession
doing to try to close this gap?

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act was enacted to combat fraud and
curb poor reporting practices. What are some key provi-
sions of this legislation?

What are some of the major challenges facing the account-
ing profession?

How are financial accountants challenged in their work to
make ethical decisions? Is technical mastery of GAAP not
sufficient to the practice of financial accounting?

CA1-1 (FASB and Standard-Setting) Presented below are four statements which you are to identify as
true or false. If false, explain why the statement is false.

1. GAAP is the term used to indicate the whole body of FASB authoritative literature.

2. Any company claiming compliance with GAAP must comply with most standards and interpreta-
tions but does not have to follow the disclosure requirements.

3. The primary governmental body that has influence over the FASB is the SEC.

4. The FASB has a government mandate and therefore does not have to follow due process in issuing a

standard.

CA1-2 (GAAP and Standard-Setting) Presented below are four statements which you are to identify as
true or false. If false, explain why the statement is false.

1. The objective of financial statements emphasizes a stewardship approach for reporting financial in-

formation.

2. The purpose of the objective of financial reporting is to prepare a balance sheet, an income statement,
a statement of cash flows, and a statement of owners’ or stockholders” equity.
3. Because they are generally shorter, FASB interpretations are subject to less due process, compared to

FASB standards.

4. The objective of financial reporting uses an entity rather than a proprietary approach in determining

what information to report.

CA1-3 (Financial Reporting and Accounting Standards) Answer the following multiple-choice questions.

1. GAAP stands for:

(a) governmental auditing and accounting practices.

(b) generally accepted attest principles.
(0) government audit and attest policies.
(d) generally accepted accounting principles.
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2. Accounting standard-setters use the following process in establishing accounting standards:
(a) Research, exposure draft, discussion paper, standard.
(b) Discussion paper, research, exposure draft, standard.
(c) Research, preliminary views, discussion paper, standard.
(d) Research, discussion paper, exposure draft, standard.
3. GAAP is comprised of:
(a) FASB standards, interpretations, and concepts statements.
(b) FASB financial standards.
(c) FASB standards, interpretations, EITF consensuses, and accounting rules issued by FASB prede-
cessor organizations.
(d) any accounting guidance included in the FASB Codification.
4. The authoritative status of the conceptual framework is as follows.
(a) It is used when there is no standard or interpretation related to the reporting issues under
consideration.
(b) Itisnot as authoritative as a standard but takes precedence over any interpretation related to the
reporting issue.
() It takes precedence over all other authoritative literature.
(d) It has no authoritative status.
5. The objective of financial reporting places most emphasis on:
(a) reporting to capital providers.
(b) reporting on stewardship.
(o) providing specific guidance related to specific needs.
(d) providing information to individuals who are experts in the field.
6. General-purpose financial statements are prepared primarily for:
(a) internal users.
(b) external users.
() auditors.
(d) government regulators.
7. Economic consequences of accounting standard-setting means:
(a) standard-setters must give first priority to ensuring that companies do not suffer any adverse
effect as a result of a new standard.
(b) standard-setters must ensure that no new costs are incurred when a new standard is issued.
(c) the objective of financial reporting should be politically motivated to ensure acceptance by the
general public.
(d) accounting standards can have detrimental impacts on the wealth levels of the providers of
financial information.
8. The expectations gap is:
(a) what financial information management provides and what users want.
(b) what the public thinks accountants should do and what accountants think they can do.
(¢) what the governmental agencies want from standard-setting and what the standard-setters
provide.
(d) what the users of financial statements want from the government and what is provided.

CA1-4 (Financial Accounting) Omar Morena has recently completed his first year of studying accounting.
His instructor for next semester has indicated that the primary focus will be the area of financial accounting.

Instructions
(a) Differentiate between financial accounting and managerial accounting.
(b) One part of financial accounting involves the preparation of financial statements. What are the fi-
nancial statements most frequently provided?
(c) What is the difference between financial statements and financial reporting?

CA1-5 (Objective of Financial Reporting) Karen Sepan, a recent graduate of the local state university, is
presently employed by a large manufacturing company. She has been asked by Jose Martinez, controller, to
prepare the company’s response to a current Preliminary Views published by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB). Sepan knows that the FASB has a conceptual framework, and she believes that
these concept statements could be used to support the company’s response to the Preliminary Views. She
has prepared a rough draft of the response citing the objective of financial reporting.

Instructions
(a) Identify the objective of financial reporting.
(b) Describe the level of sophistication expected of the users of financial information by the objective of
financial reporting.
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CA1-6 (Accounting Numbers and the Environment) Hardly a day goes by without an article appearing
on the crises affecting many of our financial institutions in the United States. It is estimated that the savings
and loan (S&L) debacle of the 1980s, for example, ended up costing $500 billion ($2,000 for every man,
woman, and child in the United States). Some argue that if the S&Ls had been required to report their
investments at fair value instead of cost, large losses would have been reported earlier, which would have
signaled regulators to close those S&Ls and, therefore, minimize the losses to U.S. taxpayers.

Instructions
Explain how reported accounting numbers might affect an individual’s perceptions and actions. Cite two
examples.

mu====2> CAI1-7 (Need for GAAP) Some argue that having various organizations establish accounting principles
is wasteful and inefficient. Rather than mandating accounting rules, each company could voluntarily dis-
close the type of information it considered important. In addition, if an investor wants additional informa-
tion, the investor could contact the company and pay to receive the additional information desired.

Instructions
Comment on the appropriateness of this viewpoint.

CA1-8 (AICPA’s Role in Rule-Making) One of the major groups involved in the standard-setting process
is the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Initially, it was the primary organization that
established accounting principles in the United States. Subsequently, it relinquished its power to the FASB.

Instructions
(a) Identify the two committees of the AICPA that established accounting principles prior to the
establishment of the FASB.
(b) Speculate as to why these two organizations failed. In your answer, identify steps the FASB has
taken to avoid failure.
(c) What is the present role of the AICPA in the rule-making environment?

CA1-9 (FASB Role in Rule-Making) A press release announcing the appointment of the trustees of the
new Financial Accounting Foundation stated that the Financial Accounting Standards Board (to be ap-
pointed by the trustees) “. . . will become the established authority for setting accounting principles under
which corporations report to the shareholders and others” (AICPA news release July 20, 1972).

Instructions
(a) Identify the sponsoring organization of the FASB and the process by which the FASB arrives at a
decision and issues an accounting standard.
(b) Indicate the major types of pronouncements issued by the FASB and the purposes of each of these
pronouncements.

mp=====> CA1-10 (Politicization of GAAP) Some accountants have said that politicization in the development and
acceptance of generally accepted accounting principles (i.e., rule-making) is taking place. Some use the
term “politicization” in a narrow sense to mean the influence by governmental agencies, particularly the
Securities and Exchange Commission, on the development of generally accepted accounting principles.
Others use it more broadly to mean the compromise that results when the bodies responsible for develop-
ing generally accepted accounting principles are pressured by interest groups (SEC, American Accounting
Association, businesses through their various organizations, Institute of Management Accountants, finan-
cial analysts, bankers, lawyers, and so on).

Instructions

(a) The Committee on Accounting Procedure of the AICPA was established in the mid- to late 1930s and
functioned until 1959, at which time the Accounting Principles Board came into existence. In 1973, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board was formed and the APB went out of existence. Do the reasons
these groups were formed, their methods of operation while in existence, and the reasons for the de-
mise of the first two indicate an increasing politicization (as the term is used in the broad sense) of
accounting standard-setting? Explain your answer by indicating how the CAP, the APB, and the FASB
operated or operate. Cite specific developments that tend to support your answer.

(b) What arguments can be raised to support the “politicization” of accounting rule-making?

(¢) What arguments can be raised against the “politicization” of accounting rule-making?

(CMA adapted)

CA1-11 (Models for Setting GAAP) Presented below are three models for setting GAAP.
1. The purely political approach, where national legislative action decrees GAAP.

2. The private, professional approach, where GAAP is set and enforced by private professional actions
only.
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3. The public/private mixed approach, where GAAP is basically set by private-sector bodies that
behave as though they were public agencies and whose standards to a great extent are enforced
through governmental agencies.

Instructions
(a) Which of these three models best describes standard-setting in the United States? Comment on your
answer.
(b) Why do companies, financial analysts, labor unions, industry trade associations, and others take
such an active interest in standard-setting?
(c) Cite an example of a group other than the FASB that attempts to establish accounting standards.
Speculate as to why another group might wish to set its own standards.

CA1-12 (GAAP Terminology) Wayne Rogers, an administrator at a major university, recently said, “I've
got some CDs in my IRA, which I set up to beat the IRS.” As elsewhere, in the world of accounting and
finance, it often helps to be fluent in abbreviations and acronyms.

Instructions
Presented below is a list of common accounting acronyms. Identify the term for which each acronym
stands, and provide a brief definition of each term.

(a) AICPA (e) FAF (i) CPA
(b) CAP (/) FASAC () FASB
() ARB (g) SOP (k) SEC
(d APB (h) GAAP () IASB

CA1-13 (Accounting Organizations and Documents Issued) Presented below are a number of account-
ing organizations and types of documents they have issued.

Instructions
Match the appropriate document to the organization involved. Note that more than one document may be
issued by the same organization. If no document is provided for an organization, write in “0.”

Organization Document
1. Accounting Standards Executive Committee (a) Opinions
2 Accounting Principles Board (b) Practice Bulletins
3. Committee on Accounting Procedure (c) Accounting Research Bulletins
4 Financial Accounting Standards Board (d) Financial Accounting Standards

(e) Statements of Position

CA1-14 (Accounting Pronouncements) Standard-setting bodies have issued a number of authoritative pro-
nouncements. A list is provided on the left, below, with a description of these pronouncements on the right.

Instructions
Match the description to the pronouncements.

1. Staff Positions (a) Official pronouncements of the APB.

2. Interpretations (of the Financial (b) Sets forth fundamental objectives and
Accounting Standards Board) concepts that will be used in develop-

3 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ing future standards.

4. EITF Statements (c) Primary document of the FASB that

5 Opinions establishes GAAP.

6 Statement of Financial Accounting (d) Provides additional guidance on
Concepts implementing or applying FASB

Standards or Interpretations.

(e) Provides guidance on how to account
for new and unusual financial transac-
tions that have the potential for creating
diversity in financial reporting practices.

(f) Represent extensions or modifica-
tions of existing standards.

CA1-15 (Rule-Making Issues) When the FASB issues new pronouncements, the implementation date is
usually 12 months from date of issuance, with early implementation encouraged. Karen Weller, controller,
discusses with her financial vice president the need for early implementation of a rule that would result in
a fairer presentation of the company’s financial condition and earnings. When the financial vice president
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determines that early implementation of the rule will adversely affect the reported net income for the year,
he discourages Weller from implementing the rule until it is required.

Instructions
Answer the following questions.

(a) What, if any, is the ethical issue involved in this case?
(b) Is the financial vice president acting improperly or immorally?
(¢) What does Weller have to gain by advocacy of early implementation?
(d) Which stakeholders might be affected by the decision against early implementation?
(CMA adapted)

CA1-16 (Securities and Exchange Commission) The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
was created in 1934 and consists of five commissioners and a large professional staff. The SEC professional
staff is organized into five divisions and several principal offices. The primary objective of the SEC is to
support fair securities markets. The SEC also strives to foster enlightened stockholder participation in cor-
porate decisions of publicly traded companies. The SEC has a significant presence in financial markets, the
development of accounting practices, and corporation-shareholder relations, and has the power to exert
influence on entities whose actions lie within the scope of its authority.

Instructions

(a) Explain from where the Securities and Exchange Commission receives its authority.

(b) Describe the official role of the Securities and Exchange Commission in the development of finan-
cial accounting theory and practices.

(c) Discuss the interrelationship between the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Financial
Accounting Standards Board with respect to the development and establishment of financial
accounting theory and practices.

(CMA adapted)

CA1-17 (Rule-Making Process) In 1973, the responsibility for developing and issuing rules on accounting
practices was given to the Financial Accounting Foundation and, in particular, to an arm of the foundation
called the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The generally accepted accounting principles
established by the FASB are enunciated through a publication series entitled Statements of Financial Account-
ing Standards. These statements are issued periodically, and over 160 have been issued. The statements
have a significant influence on the way in which financial statements are prepared by U.S. corporations.

Instructions

(@) Describe the process by which a topic is selected or identified as appropriate for study by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

(b) Once a topic is considered appropriate for consideration by the FASB, a series of steps is followed
before a Statement of Financial Accounting Standards is issued. Describe the major steps in the
process leading to the issuance of a standard.

(0) Identify at least three other organizations that influence the setting of generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).

(CMA adapted)

A\ in the WorldCom case. He was a manager in the corporate reporting department and is one of five indi-
= viduals who pleaded guilty. He is testifying in hopes of receiving no prison time when he is ultimately
sentenced.

T CA1-18 (Financial Reporting Pressures) Presented below is abbreviated testimony from Troy Normand

Q. Mr. Normand, if you could just describe for the jury how the meeting started and what was said during
the meeting?

A. Ican't recall exactly who initiated the discussion, but right away Scott Sullivan acknowledged that he was
aware we had problems with the entries, David Myers had informed him, and we were considering resigning.

He said that he respected our concerns but that we weren’t being asked to do anything that he believed
was wrong. He mentioned that he acknowledged that the company had lost focus quite a bit due to the
preparations for the Sprint merger, and that he was putting plans in place and projects in place to try to
determine where the problems were, why the costs were so high.

He did say he believed that the initial statements that we produced, that the line costs in those state-
ments could not have been as high as they were, that he believed something was wrong and there was no
way that the costs were that high.

Iinformed him that I didn’t believe the entry we were being asked to do was right, that I was scared,
and I didn’t want to put myself in a position of going to jail for him or the company. He responded that he
didn’t believe anything was wrong, nobody was going to be going to jail, but that if it later was found to be
wrong, that he would be the person going to jail, not me.
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He asked that I stay, don’t jump off the plane, let him land it softly, that’s basically how he put it. And
he mentioned that he had a discussion with Bernie Ebbers, asking Bernie to reduce projections going
forward and that Bernie had refused.

Q. Mr. Normand, you said that Mr. Sullivan said something about don’t jump out of the plane. What did
you understand him to mean when he said that?

A. Not to quit.

Q. During this meeting, did Mr. Sullivan say anything about whether you would be asked to make entries
like this in the future?

A. Yes, he made a comment that from that point going forward we wouldn’t be asked to record any entries,
high-level late adjustments, that the numbers would be the numbers.

Q. What did you understand that to be mean, the numbers would be the numbers?

A. That after the preliminary statements were issued, with the exception of any normal transaction, valid
transaction, we wouldn’t be asked to be recording any more late entries.

Q. Ibelieve you testified that Mr. Sullivan said something about the line cost numbers not being accurate.
Did he ask you to conduct any analysis to determine whether the line cost numbers were accurate?

No, he did not.

Did anyone ever ask you to do that?

No.

Did you ever conduct any such analysis?

No, I didnt.

. During this meeting, did Mr. Sullivan ever provide any accounting justification for the entry you were
asked to make?

No, he did not.

. Did anything else happen during the meeting?

. I don’t recall anything else.

How did you feel after this meeting?

. Not much better actually. I left his office not convinced in any way that what we were asked to do was
rlght However, I did question myself to some degree after talking with him wondering whether I was
making something more out of what was really there.

oPOPOP

POPOP

Instructions
Answer the following questions.

(a) What appears to be the ethical issue involved in this case?
(b) Is Troy Normand acting improperly or immorally?

() What would you do if you were Troy Normand?

(d) Who are the major stakeholders in this case?

CA1-19 (Economic Consequences) Presented below are comments made in the financial press.

Instructions
Prepare responses to the requirements in each item.

(a) Rep. John Dingell, the ranking Democrat on the House Commerce Committee, threw his support
behind the FASB’s controversial derivatives accounting standard and encouraged the FASB to adopt
the rule promptly. Indicate why a member of Congress might feel obligated to comment on this
proposed FASB standard.

(b) In a strongly worded letter to Senator Lauch Faircloth (R-NC) and House Banking Committee
Chairman Jim Leach (R-IA), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) cau-
tioned against government intervention in the accounting standard-setting process, warning that it
had the potential of jeopardizing U.S. capital markets. Explain how government intervention could
possibly affect capital markets adversely.

CA1-20 (GAAP and Economic Consequences) The following letter was sent to the SEC and the FASB by
leaders of the business community.

Dear Sirs:

The FASB has been struggling with accounting for derivatives and hedging for many years. The FASB
has now developed, over the last few weeks, a new approach that it proposes to adopt as a final
standard. We understand that the Board intends to adopt this new approach as a final standard without
exposing it for public comment and debate, despite the evident complexity of the new approach, the
speed with which it has been developed and the significant changes to the exposure draft since it was
released more than one year ago. Instead, the Board plans to allow only a brief review by selected
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parties, limited to issues of operationality and clarity, and would exclude questions as to the merits
of the proposed approach.

As the FASB itself has said throughout this process, its mission does not permit it to consider matters
that go beyond accounting and reporting considerations. Accordingly, the FASB may not have ade-
quately considered the wide range of concerns that have been expressed about the derivatives and
hedging proposal, including concerns related to the potential impact on the capital markets, the weak-
ening of companies’ ability to manage risk, and the adverse control implications of implementing costly
and complex new rules imposed at the same time as other major initiatives, including the Year 2000
issues and a single European currency. We believe that these crucial issues must be considered, if not by
the FASB, then by the Securities and Exchange Commission, other regulatory agencies, or Congress.

We believe it is essential that the FASB solicit all comments in order to identify and address all material
issues that may exist before issuing a final standard. We understand the desire to bring this process to
a prompt conclusion, but the underlying issues are so important to this nation’s businesses, the cus-
tomers they serve and the economy as a whole that expediency cannot be the dominant consideration.
As a result, we urge the FASB to expose its new proposal for public comment, following the estab-
lished due process procedures that are essential to acceptance of its standards, and providing suffi-
cient time to affected parties to understand and assess the new approach.

We also urge the SEC to study the comments received in order to assess the impact that these proposed
rules may have on the capital markets, on companies’ risk management practices, and on management
and financial controls. These vital public policy matters deserve consideration as part of the Commis-
sion’s oversight responsibilities.

We believe that these steps are essential if the FASB is to produce the best possible accounting standard
while minimizing adverse economic effects and maintaining the competitiveness of U.S. businesses in
the international marketplace.

Very truly yours,
(This letter was signed by the chairs of 22 of the largest U.S. companies.)

Instructions
Answer the following questions.

(a) Explain the “due process” procedures followed by the FASB in developing a financial reporting
standard.

(b) What is meant by the term “economic consequences” in accounting standard-setting?

(c) What economic consequences arguments are used in this letter?

(d) What do you believe is the main point of the letter?

(e) Why do you believe a copy of this letter was sent by the business community to influential members
of the U.S. Congress?

USING YOUR JUDGMENT

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Financial Reporting Problem

Beverly Crusher, a new staff accountant, is confused because of the complexities involving
accounting standard-setting. Specifically, she is confused by the number of bodies issuing finan-
cial reporting standards of one kind or another and the level of authoritative support that can be
attached to these reporting standards. Beverly decides that she must review the environment in
which accounting standards are set, if she is to increase her understanding of the accounting
profession.

Beverly recalls that during her accounting education there was a chapter or two regarding
the environment of financial accounting and the development of GAAP. However, she remem-
bers that her instructor placed little emphasis on these chapters.
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Instructions

(a) Help Beverly by identifying key organizations involved in accounting rule-making.

(b) Beverly asks for guidance regarding authoritative support. Please assist her by explaining
what is meant by authoritative support.

() Give Beverly a historical overview of how rule-making has evolved so that she will not feel
that she is the only one to be confused.

(d) What authority for compliance with GAAP has existed throughout the history of rule-
making?

BRIDGE TO THE PROFESSION

Professional Research

As a newly enrolled accounting major, you are anxious to better understand accounting institu-
tions and sources of accounting literature. As a first step, you decide to explore the FASB
Conceptual Framework.

Instructions

If your school has a subscription to the FASB Codification, go to http://aaahq.org/asclogin.cfm to
log in and access the FASB conceptual framework. When you have accessed the documents, you
can use the search tool in your Internet browser to respond to the following items. (Provide
paragraph citations.)

(a) What is the objective of financial reporting?
(b) What other means are there of communicating information, besides financial statements?

(c) Indicate some of the users and the information they are most directly concerned with in
economic decision-making.

Professional Simulation

In this simulation, you are asked questions regarding accounting principles. Prepare responses
to all parts.

. KWW _Professional Simulation 050
7] Generally Accepted Time Remaining E % m D 5 @
Accounting Principles 4 hours 30 minutes
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s | s femoner] e

At the completion of Bloom Company's audit, the president, Judy Bloom, asks about the meaning of the
phrase "in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles" that appears in your audit report on
the management's financial statements, Judy observes that the meaning of the phrase must include
something more and different than what she thinks of as "principles."

| s ] ]

(a) Explain the meaning of the term "accounting principles" as used in the audit report.
(Do not discuss in this part the significance of "generally accepted.")

(b) President Bloom wants to know how you determine whether or not an accounting principle is
generally accepted. Discuss the sources of evidence for determining whether an accounting
principle has substantial authoritative support. Do not merely list the titles of publications.
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Insights

Most agree that there is a need for one set of international accounting standards. Here is why:

Multinational corporations. Today’s companies view the entire world as their market.
For example, Coca-Cola, Intel, and McDonald’s generate more than 50 percent of their
sales outside the United States, and many foreign companies, such as Toyota, Nestl¢, and
Sony, find their largest market to be the United States.

Mergers and acquisitions. The mergers between Fiat/Chrysler and Vodafone/
Mannesmann suggest that we will see even more such business combinations in the future.

Information technology. As communication barriers continue to topple through advances
in technology, companies and individuals in different countries and markets are becoming
more comfortable buying and selling goods and services from one another.

Financial markets. Financial markets are of international significance today. Whether it
is currency, equity securities (stocks), bonds, or derivatives, there are active markets
throughout the world trading these types of instruments.

RELEVANT FACTS

e International standards are referred to as International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), developed by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Recent
events in the global capital markets have underscored the importance of financial
disclosure and transparency not only in the United States but in markets around the
world. As a result, many are examining which accounting and financial disclosure
rules should be followed.

¢ U.S standards, referred to as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), are
developed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The fact that there
are differences between what is in this textbook (which is based on U.S. standards)
and IFRS should not be surprising because the FASB and IASB have responded to
different user needs. In some countries, the primary users of financial statements
are private investors; in others, the primary users are tax authorities or central gov-
ernment planners. It appears that the United States and the international standard-
setting environment are primarily driven by meeting the needs of investors and
creditors.

* The internal control standards applicable to Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) apply only to
large public companies listed on U.S. exchanges. There is a continuing debate as
to whether non-U.S. companies should have to comply with this extra layer of
regulation. Debate about international companies (non-U.S.) adopting SOX-type
standards centers on whether the benefits exceed the costs. The concern is that
the higher costs of SOX compliance are making the U.S. securities markets less
competitive.

¢ The textbook mentions a number of ethics violations, such as WorldCom, AIG, and
Lehman Brothers. These problems have also occurred internationally, for example,
at Satyam Computer Services (India), Parmalat (Italy), and Royal Ahold (the
Netherlands).

e [FRS tends to be simpler in its accounting and disclosure requirements; some people say
more “principles-based.” GAAP is more detailed; some people say more “rules-based.”
This difference in approach has resulted in a debate about the merits of “principles-
based” versus “rules-based” standards.
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e The SEC allows foreign companies that trade shares in U.S. markets to file their IFRS
financial statements without reconciliation to GAAP.

ABOUT THE NUMBERS

World markets are becoming increasingly intertwined. International consumers drive
Japanese cars, wear Italian shoes and Scottish woolens, drink Brazilian coffee and Indian
tea, eat Swiss chocolate bars, sit on Danish furniture, watch U.S. movies, and use Arabian
oil. The tremendous variety and volume of both exported and imported goods indicates
the extensive involvement in international trade—for many companies, the world is
their market. To provide some indication of the extent of globalization of economic
activity, [llustration IFRS1-1 provides a listing of the top 20 global companies in terms of
sales.

ILLUSTRATION IFRS1-1

Global Companies
Rank Rank
($ millions) Company Country Revenues ($ millions) Company Country Revenues
1 Wal-Mart Stores  U.S. 378,799.0 11 Daimler Germany 177,167.1
2 ExxonMobil uU.S. 372,824.0 12 General Electric U.S. 176,656.0
& Royal Dutch Shell Netherlands 355,782.0 13 Ford Motor U.S. 172,468.0
4 BP U.K. 291,438.0 14 Fortis Belgium/Netherlands  164,877.0
5 Toyota Motor Japan 230,200.8 15 AXA France 162,762.3
6 Chevron u.s. 210,783.0 16 Sinopec China 159,259.6
7 ING Group Netherlands 201,516.0 17 Citigroup U.S. 159,229.0
8 Total France 187,279.5 18 Volkswagen Germany 149,054.1
9 General Motors u.s. 182,347.0 19 Dexia Group Belgium 147,648.4
10 ConocoPhillips uU.S. 178,558.0 20 HSBC Holdings U.K. 146,500.0
Source: http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/global500/2008/.

As capital markets are increasingly integrated, companies have greater flexibility in
deciding where to raise capital. In the absence of market integration, there can be company-
specific factors that make it cheaper to raise capital and list/trade securities in one
location versus another. With the integration of capital markets, the automatic linkage
between the location of the company and location of the capital market is loosening. As
a result, companies have expanded choices of where to raise capital, either equity or
debt. The move toward adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has
and will continue to facilitate this movement.

International Standard-Setting Organizations

For many years, many nations have relied on their own standard-setting organiza-
tions. For example, Canada has the Accounting Standards Board, Japan has the
Accounting Standards Board of Japan, Germany has the German Accounting Stan-
dards Committee, and the United States has the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB). The standards issued by these organizations are sometimes principles-
based, rules-based, tax-oriented, or business-based. In other words, they often differ
in concept and objective. Starting in 2000, two major standard-setting bodies have
emerged as the primary standard-setting bodies in the world. One organization is
based in London, United Kingdom, and is called the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB). The IASB issues International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
which are used on most foreign exchanges. These standards may also be used by
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foreign companies listing on U.S. securities exchanges. As indicated earlier, IFRS is
presently used in over 115 countries and is rapidly gaining acceptance in other coun-
tries as well.

It is generally believed that IFRS has the best potential to provide a common plat-
form on which companies can report and investors can compare financial information.
As a result, our discussion focuses on IFRS and the organization involved in developing
these standards—the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). (A detailed dis-
cussion of the U.S. system is provided in the chapter.) The two organizations that have
arole in international standard-setting are the International Organization of Securities
Commissions (IOSCO) and the IASB.

International Organization of Securities Commissions (10SCO)

The International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) does not set ac-
counting standards. Instead, this organization is dedicated to ensuring that the global
markets can operate in an efficient and effective basis. The member agencies (such as
from France, Germany, New Zealand, and the U.S. SEC) have resolved to:

* Cooperate to promote high standards of regulation in order to maintain just, efficient,
and sound markets.

¢ Exchange information on their respective experiences in order to promote the devel-
opment of domestic markets.

e Unite their efforts to establish standards and an effective surveillance of international
securities transactions.

* Provide mutual assistance to promote the integrity of the markets by a rigorous
application of the standards and by effective enforcement against offenses.

A landmark year for IOSCO was 2005 when it endorsed the IOSCO Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) to facilitate cross-border cooperation, reduce global systemic
risk, protect investors, and ensure fair and efficient securities markets. (For more informa-
tion, go to http://www.iosco.org/.)

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

The standard-setting structure internationally is composed of four organizations—the
International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation, the International Account-
ing Standards Board (IASB), a Standards Advisory Council, and an International Finan-
cial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). The trustees of the International
Accounting Standards Committee Foundation (IASCF) select the members of the IASB
and the Standards Advisory Council, fund their activities, and generally oversee the
IASB’s activities. The IASB is the major operating unit in this four-part structure. Its mis-
sion is to develop, in the public interest, a single set of high-quality and understandable
IFRS for general-purpose financial statements.

In addition to research help from its own staff, the IASB relies on the expertise of
various task force groups formed for various projects and on the Standards Advisory
Council (SAC). The SAC consults with the IASB on major policy and technical issues and
also helps select task force members. IFRIC develops implementation guidance for con-
sideration by the IASB. Illustration IFRS1-2 shows the current organizational structure for
the setting of international standards.

As indicated, the standard-setting structure internationally is very similar to the
standard-setting structure in the United States (see Illustration 1-2 on page 11). One
notable difference is the size of the Board—the IASB has 14 members, while the FASB
has just seven members. The larger IASB reflects the need for broader geographic repre-
sentation in the international setting.
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Types of Pronouncements

The IASB issues three major types of pronouncements:

1. International Financial Reporting Standards.
2. Framework for financial reporting.

3. International financial reporting interpretations.

International Financial Reporting Standards. Financial accounting standards issued by
the IASB are referred to as International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The IASB
has issued nine of these standards to date, covering such subjects as business
combinations and share-based payments. Prior to the IASB (formed in 2001), standard-
setting on the international level was done by the International Accounting Standards
Committee, which issued International Accounting Standards (IAS). The committee is-
sued 40 IASs, many of which have been amended or superseded by the IASB. Those still
remaining are considered under the umbrella of IFRS.

Framework for Financial Reporting. As part of a long-range effort to move away from
the problem-by-problem approach, the International Accounting Standards Committee
(predecessor to the IASB) issued a document entitled “Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements” (also referred to simply as the Framework).
This Framework sets forth fundamental objectives and concepts that the Board uses in
developing future standards of financial reporting. The intent of the document is to
form a cohesive set of interrelated concepts—a conceptual framework—that will serve
as tools for solving existing and emerging problems in a consistent manner. For exam-
ple, the objective of general-purpose financial reporting discussed earlier is part of this
Framework. The Framework and any changes to it pass through the same due process
(discussion paper, public hearing, exposure draft, etc.) as an IFRS. However, this Frame-
work is not an IFRS and hence does not define standards for any particular measure-
ment or disclosure issue. Nothing in this Framework overrides any specific interna-
tional accounting standard.

International Financial Reporting Interpretations. Interpretations issued by the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) are also considered
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authoritative and must be followed. These interpretations cover (1) newly identified
financial reporting issues not specifically dealt with in IFRS, and (2) issues where unsat-
isfactory or conflicting interpretations have developed, or seem likely to develop, in the
absence of authoritative guidance. The IFRIC has issued over 15 of these interpretations
to date. In keeping with the IASB’s own approach to setting standards, the IFRIC
applies a principles-based approach in providing interpretative guidance. To this end,
the IFRIC looks first to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements as the foundation for formulating a consensus. It then looks to the principles
articulated in the applicable standard, if any, to develop its interpretative guidance and
to determine that the proposed guidance does not conflict with provisions in IFRS.

IFRIC helps the IASB in many ways. For example, emerging issues often attract
public attention. If not resolved quickly, they can lead to financial crises and scandal.
They can also undercut public confidence in current reporting practices. The next step,
possible governmental intervention, would threaten the continuance of standard-
setting in the private sector. Similar to the EITF in the United States, IFRIC can address
controversial accounting problems as they arise. It determines whether it can resolve
them or whether to involve the IASB in solving them. In essence, it becomes a “problem
filter” for the IASB. Thus, the IASB will hopefully work on more pervasive long-term
problems, while the IFRIC deals with short-term emerging issues.

Hierarchy of IFRS

Because it is a private organization, the IASB has no regulatory mandate and therefore
no enforcement mechanism. Similar to the U.S. setting, in which the Securities and
Exchange Commission enforces the use of FASB standards for public companies, the IASB
relies on other regulators to enforce the use of its standards. For example, effective January
1, 2005, the European Union required publicly traded member country companies to
use IFRS."

Any company indicating that it is preparing its financial statements in conformity
with IFRS must use all of the standards and interpretations. The following hierarchy is
used to determine what recognition, valuation, and disclosure requirements should be
used. Companies first look to:

1. International Financial Reporting Standards;
2. International Accounting Standards; and

3. Interpretations originated by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

In the absence of a standard or an interpretation, the following sources in descending
order are used: (1) the requirements and guidance in standards and interpretations
dealing with similar and related issues; (2) the Framework for financial reporting;
and (3) most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a sim-
ilar conceptual framework to develop accounting standards, other accounting litera-
ture, and accepted industry practices, to the extent they do not conflict with the
above. The overriding requirement of IFRS is that the financial statements provide a
fair presentation (often referred to as a “true and fair view”). Fair representation is
assumed to occur if a company follows the guidelines established in IFRS.

2Certain changes have been implemented with respect to use of IFRS in the United States. For
example, under American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) rules, a member of
the AICPA can only report on financial statements prepared in accordance with standards
promulgated by standard-setting bodies designated by the AICPA Council. In May 2008, the
AICPA Council voted to designate the IASB in London as an international accounting standard-
setter for purposes of establishing international financial accounting and reporting principles, and
to make related amendments to its rules to provide AICPA members with the option to use IFRS.
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International Accounting Convergence

The SEC recognizes that the establishment of a single, widely accepted set of high-quality
accounting standards benefits both global capital markets and U.S. investors. U.S. inves-
tors will make better-informed investment decisions if they obtain high-quality finan-
cial information from U.S. companies that are more comparable to the presently avail-
able information from non-U.S. companies operating in the same industry or line of
business. Thus, the SEC appears committed to move to IFRS, assuming that certain con-
ditions are met. These conditions are spelled out in a document, referred to as the
“Roadmap” and in a policy statement issued by the SEC in early 2010."

A timeline for potential adoption of IFRS in the United States is shown in Illustra-
tion IFRS1-3. As indicated, the SEC has established a very deliberate process, beginning
with use of IFRS by foreign companies in U.S. markets, while considering the merits of

requiring use of IFRS by U.S. companies. ILLUSTRATION IFRS1-3
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To move to IFRS, the SEC indicates that the international standards must be of high
quality and sufficiently comprehensive. To achieve this goal, the IASB and the FASB
have set up an extensive work plan to achieve the objective of developing one set of
world-class international standards. This work plan actually started in 2002, when an
agreement was forged between the two Boards, where each acknowledged their com-
mitment to the development of high-quality, compatible accounting standards that
could be used for both domestic and cross-border financial reporting (referred to as the
Norwalk Agreement)."*

At that meeting, the FASB and the IASB pledged to use their best efforts to (1) make
their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as is practicable,
and (2) coordinate their future work programs to ensure that once achieved, compatibil-
ity is maintained. This document was reinforced in 2006 when the parties issued a mem-
orandum of understanding (MOU) which highlighted three principles:

* Convergence of accounting standards can best be achieved through the development
of high-quality common standards over time.

13”Roadmap for the Potential Use of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards by U.S. Issuers,” SEC Release No. 33-8982 (November 14,
2008), and “Statement in Support of Convergence and Global Accounting Standards,” SEC
Release Nos. 33-9109; 34-61578 (February 24, 2010).

YSee http:/fwww.fash.org/news/memorandum.pdf.
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e Trying to eliminate differences between two standards that are in need of significant
improvement is not the best use of the FASB’s and the IASB’s resources—instead, a
new common standard should be developed that improves the financial information
reported to investors.

* Serving the needs of investors means that the Boards should seek convergence
by replacing standards in need of improvement with jointly developed new
standards.

Subsequently, in 2009 the Boards agreed on a process to complete a number of major
projects by 2011, including monthly joint meetings. As part of achieving this goal, it is
critical that the process by which the standards are established be independent. And, it
is necessary that the standards are maintained, and emerging accounting issues are
dealt with efficiently.

The SEC has directed its staff to develop and execute a plan (“Work Plan”) to
enhance both the understanding of the SEC’s purpose and public transparency in this
area. Execution of the Work Plan (which addresses such areas as independence of standard-
setting, investor understanding of IFRS, and auditor readiness), combined with the
completion of the convergence projects of the FASB and the IASB according to their cur-
rent work plan, will position the SEC to make a decision on required use of IFRS by U.S.
issuers. After reviewing the progress related to the Work Plan studies, the SEC will
decide, sometime in 2011, whether to mandate the use of IFRS. It is likely that not all
companies would be required immediately to change to IFRS, but there would be a
transition period in which this would be accomplished.

ON THE HORIZON

The international standard-setting environment shares many common features with U.S.
standard-setting. Financial statements prepared according to IFRS have become an
important standard around the world for communicating financial information to
investors and creditors. The SEC and the FASB are working with their international
counterparts to achieve the goal of a single set of high-quality financial reporting stan-
dards for use around the world. While there are still many bumps in the road to the
establishment of one set of worldwide standards, we are optimistic that this goal can be
achieved, which will be of value to all.

IFRS SELF-TEST QUESTIONS

1. IFRS stands for:
(a) International Federation of Reporting Services.
(b) Independent Financial Reporting Standards.
(c) International Financial Reporting Standards.
(d) Integrated Financial Reporting Services.
2. The major key players on the international side are the:
(a) IASB and FASB. () SEC and FASB.
(b) IOSCO and the SEC.  (d) IASB and IOSCO.

3. IFRS is comprised of:
(a) International Financial Reporting Standards and FASB financial reporting
standards.
(b) International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Stan-
dards, and international accounting interpretations.
(c) International Accounting Standards and international accounting interpretations.
(d) FASB financial reporting standards and International Accounting Standards.
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4. The authoritative status of the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of

Financial Statements is as follows:

(a) Itisused when there is no standard or interpretation related to the reporting issues
under consideration.

(b) Itisnotas authoritative as a standard but takes precedence over any interpreta-
tion related to the reporting issue.

(c) It takes precedence over all other authoritative literature.

(d) It has no authoritative status.

5. Which of the following statements is true?
(@) The IASB has the same number of members as the FASB.
(b) The IASB structure has both advisory and interpretation functions, but no trustees.
(c) The IASB has been in existence longer than the FASB.
(d) The IASB structure is quite similar to the FASB’s, except the IASB has a larger
number of board members.

IFRS CONCEPTS AND APPLICATION

IFRS1-1 Who are the two key international players in the development of international
accounting standards? Explain their role.

IFRS1-2 What might explain the fact that different accounting standard-setters have
developed accounting standards that are sometimes quite different in nature?

IFRS1-3 What is the benefit of a single set of high-quality accounting standards?
IFRS1-4 Briefly describe FASB/IASB convergence process and the principles that guide
their convergence efforts.

Financial Reporting Case

IFRS1-5 The following comments were made at an Annual Conference of the Financial
Executives Institute (FEI).

There is an irreversible movement towards the harmonization of financial reporting
throughout the world. The international capital markets require an end to:

1. The confusion caused by international companies announcing different results
depending on the set of accounting standards applied.

2. Companies in some countries obtaining unfair commercial advantages from the use
of particular national accounting standards.

3. The complications in negotiating commercial arrangements for international joint
ventures caused by different accounting requirements.

4. The inefficiency of international companies having to understand and use a
myriad of different accounting standards depending on the countries in which
they operate and the countries in which they raise capital and debt. Executive
talent is wasted on keeping up to date with numerous sets of accounting standards

and the never-ending changes to them.

5. The inefficiency of investment managers, bankers, and financial analysts as they
seek to compare financial reporting drawn up in accordance with different sets of

accounting standards.

Instructions
(a) What is the International Accounting Standards Board?
(b) What stakeholders might benefit from the use of International Accounting
Standards?
(c) What do you believe are some of the major obstacles to convergence?
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Professional Research

IFRS1-6 As a newly enrolled accounting major, you are anxious to better understand
accounting institutions and sources of accounting literature. As a first step, you decide
to explore the IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements.

Instructions

Access the IASB Framework at the IASB website (http://eifrs.iasb.org/). When you have
accessed the documents, you can use the search tool in your Internet browser to respond
to the following items. (Provide paragraph citations.)

(a) What is the objective of financial reporting?

(b) What other means are there of communicating information, besides financial
statements?

(c) Indicate some of the users and the information they are most directly concerned
with in economic decision-making.

International Financial Reporting Problem:

Marks and Spencer plc

IFRS1-7 The financial statements of Marks and Spencer plc (M&S) are available
at the book’s companion website or can be accessed at http://corporate.marksandspencer.
com/documents/ publications/2010/Annual_Report_2010.

Instructions

Refer to M&S'’s financial statements and the accompanying notes to answer the fol-
lowing questions.

(a) What is the company’s main line of business?

(b) In what countries does the company operate?

(¢) What is the address of the company’s corporate headquarters?
(d) What is the company’s reporting currency?

ANSWERS TO IFRS SELF-TEST QUESTIONS
1.c 2.d 3.b 4.a 5.d

Remember to check the book’s companion website to find additional resources
for this chapter.
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) Conceptual Framework

for Financial Reporting

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

After studying this chapter, you should be able to:

ED Describe the usefulness of a conceptual ) Define the basic elements of financial
framework. statements.

E» Describe the FASB's efforts to construct a I Describe the basic assumptions of accounting.
COMEEIRHE] TEmSen s E® Explain the application of the basic principles

E» Understand the objective of financial reporting. of accounting.

I Identify the qualitative characteristics of ) Describe the impact that constraints have on
accounting information. reporting accounting information.

What Is It?

Everyone agrees that accounting needs a framework—a conceptual framework, so to speak—that will
help guide the development of standards. To understand the importance of developing this framework,
let's see how you would respond in the following two situations.

Situation 1: “Taking a Long Shot ... "

To supplement donations collected from its general community solicitation, Tri-Cities United Chari-
ties holds an Annual Lottery Sweepstakes. In this year's sweepstakes, United Charities is offering a
grand prize of $1,000,000 to a single winning ticket holder. A total of 10,000 tickets have been
printed, and United Charities plans to sell all the tickets at a price of $150 each.

Since its inception, the Sweepstakes has attracted area-wide interest, and United Charities has
always been able to meet its sales target. However, in the unlikely event that it might fail to sell a
sufficient number of tickets to cover the grand prize, United Charities has reserved the right to can-
cel the Sweepstakes and to refund the price of the tickets to holders.

In recent years, a fairly active secondary market for tickets has developed. This year, buying—
selling prices have varied between $75 and $95 before stabilizing at about $90.

When the tickets first went on sale this year, multimillionaire Phil N. Tropic, well-known in Tri-
Cities civic circles as a generous but sometimes eccentric donor, bought one of the tickets from
United Charities, paying $150 cash.

How would you answer the following questions?

1. Should Phil N. Tropic recognize his lottery ticket as an asset in his financial statements?

2. Assuming that Phil N. Tropic recognizes the lottery ticket as an asset, at what amount should it be
reported? Some possible answers are $150, $100, and $90.
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See the International

o . orye o Perspectives on pages 45, 56,
Situation 2: The $20 Million Question iy
The Hard Rock Mining Company has just completed the first year of operations Read the IFRS Insights on
at its new strip mine, the Lonesome Doe. Hard Rock spent $10 million for the land pages 81-85 for a discussion of:

and $20 million in preparing the site for mining operations. The mine is expected
to operate for 20 years. Hard Rock is subject to environmental statutes requiring
it to restore the Lonesome Doe mine site on completion of mining operations. — Conceptual framework Work
Based on its experience and industry data, as well as current technology, Plan

Hard Rock forecasts that restoration will cost about $10 million when it is under-
taken. Of those costs, about $4 million is for restoring the topsoil that was
removed in preparing the site for mining operations (prior to opening the mine);
the rest is directly proportional to the depth of the mine, which in turn is directly
proportional to the amount of ore extracted.

—Financial statement elements

How would you answer the following questions?

1. Should Hard Rock recognize a liability for site restoration in conjunction with the opening of the
Lonesome Doe Mine? If so, what is the amount of that liability?

2. After Hard Rock has operated the Lonesome Doe Mine for 5 years, new technology is introduced that
reduces Hard Rock’s estimated future restoration costs to $7 million, $3 million of which relates to
restoring the topsoil. How should Hard Rock account for this change in its estimated future liability?

The answer to the questions on the two situations depends on how assets and liabilities are defined
and how they should be valued. Hopefully, this chapter will provide you with a framework to resolve
questions like these.

Source: Adapted from Todd Johnson and Kim Petrone, The FASB Cases on Recognition and Measurement,
Second Edition (New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1996).

As our opening story indicates, users of finan-
PREVIEW OF CHAPTER 2 cial statements can face difficult questions about
the recognition and measurement of financial
items. To help develop the type of financial information that can be used to answer these
questions, financial accounting and reporting relies on a conceptual framework. In this
chapter, we discuss the basic concepts underlying the conceptual framework as follows.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

l l

FIRST LEVEL: SECOND LEVEL: THIRD LEVEL: RECOGNITION
LA s BASIC OBJECTIVE FUNDAMENTAL CONCEPTS AND MEASUREMENT GONCEPTS
e Need * Qualitative characteristics o Basic assumptions
e Development e Basic elements e Basic principles
e Overview e Constraints

e Summary of the structure

43
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CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

A conceptual framework establishes the concepts that underlie financial reporting. A
conceptual framework is a coherent system of concepts that flow from an objective. The
objective identifies the purpose of financial reporting. The other concepts provide
guidance on (1) identifying the boundaries of financial reporting; (2) selecting the trans-
actions, other events, and circumstances to be represented; (3) how they should be
recognized and measured; and (4) how they should be summarized and reported.'

Need for a Conceptual Framework

LEARNING OBJECTIVE EBp

Describe the usefulness of a
conceptual framework.

Why do we need a conceptual framework? First, to be useful, rule-making should
build on and relate to an established body of concepts. A soundly developed concep-
tual framework thus enables the FASB to issue more useful and consistent pro-
nouncements over time; a coherent set of standards should result. Indeed, without

the guidance provided by a soundly developed framework, standard-setting ends up
being based on individual concepts developed by each member of the standard-setting
body. The following observation by a former standard-setter highlights the problem.

“As our professional careers unfold, each of us develops a technical conceptual framework.
Some individual frameworks are sharply defined and firmly held; others are vague and
weakly held; still others are vague and firmly held. . . . At one time or another, most of us have
felt the discomfort of listening to somebody buttress a preconceived conclusion by building
a convoluted chain of shaky reasoning. Indeed, perhaps on occasion we have voiced such
thinking ourselves. . .. My experience . . . taught me many lessons. A major one was that most
of us have a natural tendency and an incredible talent for processing new facts in such a way
that our prior conclusions remain intact.?

In other words, standard-setting that is based on personal conceptual frameworks
will lead to different conclusions about identical or similar issues than it did previously.
As a result, standards will not be consistent with one another, and past decisions may
not be indicative of future ones. Furthermore, the framework should increase financial
statement users’ understanding of and confidence in financial reporting. It should
enhance comparability among companies’ financial statements.

Second, as a result of a soundly developed conceptual framework, the profession
should be able to more quickly solve new and emerging practical problems by refer-
ring to an existing framework of basic theory. For example, Sunshine Mining sold
two issues of bonds. It can redeem them either with $1,000 in cash or with 50 ounces of
silver, whichever is worth more at maturity. Both bond issues have a stated interest rate
of 8.5 percent. At what amounts should Sunshine or the buyers of the bonds record
them? What is the amount of the premium or discount on the bonds? And how should
Sunshine amortize this amount, if the bond redemption payments are to be made in
silver (the future value of which is unknown at the date of issuance)? Consider that

'Proposed Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting: Objective of Financial Reporting and
Qualitative Characteristics of Decision-Useful Financial Reporting Information (Norwalk, Conn.:
FASB, May 29, 2008), page ix. Recall from our discussion in Chapter 1 that while the conceptual
framework and any changes to it pass through the same due process (discussion paper, public
hearing, exposure draft, etc.) as do the other FASB pronouncements, the framework is not
authoritative. That is, the framework does not define standards for any particular measurement
or disclosure issue, and nothing in the framework overrides any specific FASB pronouncement
that is included in the Codification.

C. Horngren, “Uses and Limitations of a Conceptual Framework,” Journal of Accountancy (April
1981), p. 90.
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Sunshine cannot know, at the date of issuance, the value of future silver bond redemp-
tion payments.

It is difficult, if not impossible, for the FASB to prescribe the proper accounting
treatment quickly for situations like this or like those represented in our opening story.
Practicing accountants, however, must resolve such problems on a daily basis. How?
Through good judgment and with the help of a universally accepted conceptual frame-
work, practitioners can quickly focus on an acceptable treatment.

WHAT’S YOUR PRINCIPLE?

The need for a conceptual framework is highlighted by accounting scandals such as those at Enron

and Lehman Brothers. To restore public confidence in the financial reporting process, many have What do the
argued that regulators should move toward principles-based rules. They believe that companies numbers
exploited the detailed provisions in rules-based pronouncements to manage accounting reports, mean?

rather than report the economic substance of transactions. For example, many of the off-balance-
sheet arrangements of Enron avoided transparent reporting by barely achieving 3 percent outside
equity ownership, a requirement in an obscure accounting rule interpretation. Enron’s financial
engineers were able to structure transactions to achieve a desired accounting treatment, even if that
accounting treatment did not reflect the transaction’s true nature. Under principles-based rules,
hopefully top management’s financial reporting focus will shift from demonstrating compliance
with rules to demonstrating that a company has attained the objective of financial reporting.

Development of a Conceptual Framework

Over the years, numerous organizations developed and published their own
conceptual frameworks, but no single framework was universally accepted and €3 LEARNING OBJECTIVE
relied on in practice. In 1976, the FASB began to develop a conceptual framework || Describe the FASB's efforts to construct
that would be a basis for setting accounting rules and for resolving financial R ok,

reporting controversies. The FASB has since issued seven Statements of Financial

Accounting Concepts that relate to financial reporting for business enterprises.’ They

are as follows.

1. SFAC No. 1, “Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises,” pre-
) INTERNATIONAL
sents the goals and purposes of accounting. PERSPECTIVE

2. SFAC No. 2, “Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information,” examines Tpe |ASB has also issued a
the characteristics that make accounting information useful. conceptual framework. The FASB

3. SFAC No. 3, “Elements of Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” pro- and the IASB have agreed on a joint

. s . c . ST roject to develop a common and
vides definitions of items in financial statements, such as assets, liabilities, proj P
improved conceptual framework. The
revenues, and expenses.

project is being conducted in phases.
4. SFAC No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Phase A on objectives and qualitative

Enterprises,” sets forth fundamental recognition and measurement criteria and  characteristics was issued in 2010.
guidance on what information should be formally incorporated into financial
statements and when.

5. SFAC No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements,” replaces SFAC No. 3 and expands
its scope to include not-for-profit organizations.

The FASB also issued a Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts that relates to nonbusiness
organizations: “Objectives of Financial Reporting by Nonbusiness Organizations,” Statement of
Financial Accounting Concepts No. 4 (December 1980).
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6. SFAC No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting Mea-
surements,” provides a framework for using expected future cash flows and present
values as a basis for measurement.

7. SFAC No. 8, Chapter 1, “The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting,”
and Chapter 3, “Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information,” replaces
SFAC No. 1 and No. 2.

Overview of the Conceptual Framework

Ilustration 2-1 provides an overview of the FASB’s conceptual framework.*

ILLUSTRATION 2-1
Framework for Financial

Reporting
Recognition, Measurement, and Disclosure Concepts Third level:
The "how"—
1 implementation
ASSUMPTIONS PRINCIPLES CONSTRAINTS
QUALITATIVE
CHARACTERISTICS ELEI\g?NTS Second level: Bridge between
of . . levels 1 and 3
) financial
accounting
. ) statements
information

OBJECTIVE
of
financial
reporting

First level: The "why'—purpose
of accounting

The first level identifies the objective of financial reporting—that is, the purpose of
financial reporting. The second level provides the qualitative characteristics that make
accounting information useful and the elements of financial statements (assets, liabili-
ties, and so on). The third level identifies the recognition, measurement, and disclosure
concepts used in establishing and applying accounting standards and the specific con-
cepts to implement the objective. These concepts include assumptions, principles, and
constraints that describe the present reporting environment. We examine these three
levels of the conceptual framework next.

4Adapted from William C. Norby, The Financial Analysts Journal (March-April 1982), p. 22.
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FIRST LEVEL: BASIC OBJECTIVE

The objective of financial reporting is the foundation of the conceptual frame-
work. Other aspects of the framework—qualitative characteristics, elements of
financial statements, recognition, measurement, and disclosure—flow logically
from the objective. Those aspects of the framework help to ensure that financial

€] LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Understand the objective of financial
reporting.

reporting achieves its objective.

The objective of general-purpose financial reporting is to provide financial informa-
tion about the reporting entity that is useful to present and potential equity investors,
lenders, and other creditors in making decisions about providing resources to the
entity. Those decisions involve buying, selling, or holding equity and debt instruments,
and providing or settling loans and other forms of credit. Information that is decision-
useful to capital providers may also be useful to other users of financial reporting, who
are not capital providers.’

As indicated in Chapter 1, to provide information to decision-makers, companies
prepare general-purpose financial statements. General-purpose financial reporting
helps users who lack the ability to demand all the financial information they need from
an entity and therefore must rely, at least partly, on the information provided in finan-
cial reports. However, an implicit assumption is that users need reasonable knowledge
of business and financial accounting matters to understand the information contained
in financial statements. This point is important. It means that financial statement pre-
parers assume a level of competence on the part of users. This assumption impacts the
way and the extent to which companies report information.

SECOND LEVEL: FUNDAMENTAL CONCEPTS

The objective (first level) focuses on the purpose of financial reporting. Later, we will
discuss the ways in which this purpose is implemented (third level). What, then, is the
purpose of the second level? The second level provides conceptual building blocks that
explain the qualitative characteristics of accounting information and define the elements
of financial statements.® That is, the second level forms a bridge between the why of
accounting (the objective) and the how of accounting (recognition, measurement, and
financial statement presentation).

Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information

Should companies like Walt Disney or Kellogg's provide information in their
financial statements on how much it costs them to acquire their assets (historical
cost basis) or how much the assets are currently worth (fair value basis)? Should
PepsiCo combine and show as one company the four main segments of its busi-
ness, or should it report PepsiCo Beverages, Frito Lay, Quaker Foods, and
PepsiCo International as four separate segments?

How does a company choose an acceptable accounting method, the amount and
types of information to disclose, and the format in which to present it? The answer: By

&1 LEARNING OBJECTIVE

Identify the qualitative characteristics
of accounting information.

>Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, “Chapter 1, The Objective of General Purpose
Financial Reporting” (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, September 2010), par. OB2.

SStatement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, “Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics of
Useful Financial Information” (Norwalk, Conn.: FASB, September 2010).
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ILLUSTRATION 2-2
Hierarchy of Accounting
Qualities

determining which alternative provides the most useful information for decision-
making purposes (decision-usefulness). The FASB identified the qualitative character-
istics of accounting information that distinguish better (more useful) information from
inferior (less useful) information for decision-making purposes. In addition, the FASB
identified a cost constraint as part of the conceptual framework (discussed later in the
chapter). As Illustration 2-2 shows, the characteristics may be viewed as a hierarchy.

Primary users of CAPITAL PROVIDERS (Investors and Creditors)
accounting information AND THEIR CHARACTERISTICS
Constraint COST
Pervasive criterion DECISION-USEFULNESS
|
[ l
jicamental RELEVANCE . »| FAITHFUL REPRESENTATION
qualities
I ]

Ingredients of o ) e
fund_a[nental gt Conlleioy Materiality Completeness| | Neutrality from
qualities value value

error

. | | | I

Enhancing » L - -
qualities Comparability Verifiability Timeliness Understandability

As indicated by Illustration 2-2, qualitative characteristics are either fundamental
or enhancing characteristics, depending on how they affect the decision-usefulness of
information. Regardless of classification, each qualitative characteristic contributes to
the decision-usefulness of financial reporting information. However, providing useful
financial information is limited by a pervasive constraint on financial reporting—cost
should not exceed the benefits of a reporting practice.

Fundamental Quality—Relevance

Relevance is one of the two fundamental qualities that make accounting information
useful for decision-making. Relevance and related ingredients of this fundamental qual-
ity are shown below.

Fund_amental RELEVANCE
quality
I

Ingredients of the
fundamental Predictive Confirmatory

¢ Materiality
quality value value

To be relevant, accounting information must be capable of making a difference in a
decision. Information with no bearing o